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Mission 1: Rin

“Strength of Mind and Body”
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Viktor Wendig had upgraded.

That was the first thing Benito ‘Benny’ Stetson noticed when one of his pet thugs - to whom the names Grell and Fella had inexplicably stuck - finally pulled the sack from over his head.

‘What is this place?’ Benny glanced around the room, dark but for the glow of a bank of CRT screens against one wall - gone was the functional black on white of the ZX81, replaced with a clash of colours and flashing text so tasteless that only the 1980s could have spawned it.

‘This, my friend,’ Wendig spoke without looking up, hopping from one screen to the next like the mad scientist he almost certainly was, ‘is the spatiotemporal nexus!’

Benny looked around again, the eerie silhouettes of moonlight through Neo-Gothic windows allowing his eyes to become accustomed to the gloom. The chipped plaster and rising damp failed to portray any kind of nexus he could imagine.

‘Are you sure?’ he said.

‘Of course I’m sure!’ Wendig snapped, turning from the array of rubber-keyed computing power to glare at Benny. ‘This place has belonged to the Assembly since 1969!’

‘Just seems a little... neglected, is all.’ Benny made a valiant attempt at a conciliatory shrug, but was hampered somewhat by the fact that he was tied to a rather uncomfortable plastic chair.

‘I haven’t opened it yet,’ Wendig said through gritted teeth.

‘Ah,’ Benny nodded knowingly. ‘Waiting for the Mayor to come with his giant scissors?’

Wendig scowled at Benny and snapped his fingers towards one of the room’s more gloomy corners, from whence Grell came scurrying.

‘Put him back in his sack,’ he said. ‘I’m going for a walk.’

And with that, what little light there was was snuffed out.

It had been daylight when they arrived here - wherever here was; Benny probed his memory for any clue as to his current location.

The last thing Benny remembered before being accessorized in sackcloth was the exploding ZX81 back at the old theme park, during which he had been secured in the back of the Assembly’s van. He remembered the flash of light, the bang, the rocking of the van... and the next thing he remembered was seeing blue sky and greenery outside, just for a moment, and from then until now it was just the darkness of the inside of a bag.

‘Grell?’ he called. ‘Fella? You guys here?’

‘Whaddaya want?’ Fella shouted back.

‘I’m going crazy here,’ Benny said. ‘You guys have a pack of cards or something?’

‘What for?’ Grell said.

‘So I can make my BMX sound like a Kawasaki of course, what do you think? I’ve counted every stitch on the inside of this bag,’ he said. ‘And given them names. Zanzibar Buck-Buck McFate is, for some reason, not too happy with my company at the moment,’ he added.

‘So what do you want us to do?’

‘A game of Top Trumps maybe?’

‘We don’t got no cards.’

‘We could play something else,’ Fella chipped in.

‘Yeah?’ Benny said. ‘We could play I Spy but I’d be at a bit of a disadvantage.’

‘You obviously haven’t seen his spelling.’

‘Hey, I rezent that remmarck!’

‘Very droll,’ Benny muttered.

‘’Oo’s a troll?’

‘If the cap fits...’ Fella said.

‘Alright alright, quit your yapping already! Wish I’d never said anything now.’

‘Do you think he’s got any games for...’ Fella started.

‘What?’ Benny said. ‘Don’t leave me out in the cold now, what are you thinking?’

‘Nope,’ Grell said. ‘Just this bunch of old tapes.’

‘Wait, what?’

‘You idiot!’ Fella said. ‘Haven’t you been paying any attention?’

‘Not really,’ Grell admitted.

‘Nor me. Better bring the nerd over then.’

‘I’m not a nerd,’ Benny growled. ‘I’m the Chip Whisperer.’

‘Whatevs.’ Fella yanked the sack from over Benny’s head, and rummaged through a box of old cassettes in front of him. ‘You know how to make these things play games or what?’

‘Stop!’ Benny said suddenly. ‘That one.’

‘Really?’

Benny nodded. ‘Friend of mine told me it’s a classic. I’d like to see if he’s right.’

Following his instructions, Fella put the tape in the cassette player. After about two minutes of high pitched whining, she figured out how to rewind the tape and started the program loading.

A few more minutes passed, and Benny became aware of someone shaking his chair. He turned around but no-one was there; in fact everything in the room was gently vibrating, and a low rumbling noise seemed to sweep through the room, a baritone compliment to the falsetto squealing of the TV set. A few more bits of plaster fell from the wall, and then silence settled.

Benny looked from Grell to Fella and back again.

‘Is it supposed to do that?’ he asked.

Before they could reply, a crudely beeped tune announced that their game was ready as soon as they were.

An hour or so outside Palaeozoic Park (Oxfordshire’s Premier Prehistoric Attraction), on a B road somewhere on the way to Aylesbury, a high-top Dodge Spacevan with the word ‘AMBIVALENCE’ illuminated above the windscreen was resting in a lay-by set back from the road.

A young woman dressed in black kicked stones across the lay-by as if they were the ones responsible for her having been dragged out of bed, kidnapped by bad guys, dropped through a hole in the space-time continuum and, to top it all off, forced to try and sleep on the comfort-free bench seats in the back of an aging community ambulance.

‘Oh good, you’re finally awake,’ she said as the driver climbed out of the front of the van and stretched groggily.

‘Morning Charlie,’ he said.

‘Charlotte. Can we go shopping now, Dad? I’m out of bubble gum.’

‘And I really need some coffee,’ Phil said. ‘How’s Sam doing?’

Charlotte looked at the sullen figure sat on a boulder nearby with her head in her hands. ‘I’ll go and talk to her. Where’s the Doc?’

‘He’s still coming to terms with the idea of a sentient ZX81.’

‘Aren’t we all?’ Charlotte made her way over to where Sam was sitting, idly toying with her car keys. ‘Sam?’

She looked up and forced a smile for Charlotte. ‘What’s up?’

‘I think we’re gonna go foraging for coffee. Dad’ll get withdrawal soon otherwise.’

‘I can relate to that.’

‘Come on Sam, there’ll be other cars.’

‘Not like Rex.’

‘That’s probably true.’

‘Here,’ Sam handed Charlotte a bunch of keys attached to a tiny dinosaur. ‘It hurts too much to keep them.’

‘Sure,’ Charlotte said, tucking them away in her bag.

Assuming crowds ever actually did arrive in Aylesbury town centre, they were still some way off when the Ambivalence crew dismounted and made their way from the car park to the main shopping area.

Phil looked around at the shops, feeling a strange sense of discombobulation, as if there was something slightly... disconnected, about all of this.

‘Is it Thursday?’ he asked absently.

‘I thought you said we were looking for the High Street?’ Charlotte said.

‘I think this is it,’ Phil said looking around.

‘Can’t be,’ Charlotte said. ‘There’s not a single phone shop in sight. In fact, I haven’t heard of most of these shops. What’s that about?’

‘Yes, that’s it,’ Phil said. ‘I knew there was something wrong here.’

‘Fads?’ Charlotte said, randomly.

‘Could be, I suppose,’ Phil said absently. ‘I wasn’t aware retail had regional fashions, but...’

‘No, not fads,’ Sam said. ‘The paint n paper people. Look,’ she was pointing at a shop on the other side of the precinct.

‘Well,’ Doc Nectarine said. ‘If they specialise in interior design, you might have thought they’d have put some effort into their branding and logo.’

‘What, like everyone else has, you mean?’ said Charlotte, having just rounded a corner ahead of the rest of the group. ‘Everything seems rather... brown.’

‘They’re not all brown,’ Sam said, pointing at a shop front that was mainly blue with large, yellow letters.

‘Bejam?’ Charlotte said. ‘What the heck is that, newspeak for honey or something?’

‘Woah,’ Phil said, looking at the array of shops that met him around the corner.

‘This is some freaky ass parallel dimension or something, right?’ Charlotte said. ‘One where Woolworths didn't go belly up?’

‘And is still selling ZX81s,’ Phil said, suddenly lost in wonder and drawn towards the window.

‘What the heck?’ Charlotte said, peering over his shoulder. ‘I thought Bucks Fizz was a drink?’

‘Yeah, but it was named after an old bubblegum pop group from the...’ Phil started, then trailed off as realisation began to dawn on him.

‘What?’ Sam said as Phil was already running down the main drag. ‘Why are you running off mid-sentence all of a sudden?’

Nectarine and Charlotte shrugged at each other and followed at a distance.

‘Look,’ he said when they caught him up. ‘Rumbelows. Fads. Bradford & Bingley. Fine Fare. C&A. Radio Rentals.’

‘What’s your point?’ Sam said.

‘He’s right,’ Nectarine said. ‘I’ve been to a lot of shopping centres...’

Phil frowned at him as if this was the campest thing he could possibly have said. 

‘Don't judge me,’ he said. ‘A man can have layers, can’t he?’

‘Carry on, please,’ Sam encouraged.

‘I’ve been to a lot of shopping centres,’ he repeated. ‘And I have not seen any of these stores in years.’

‘Are you saying what I think you’re saying?’ Sam said.

Phil nodded slightly. ‘Somehow we travelled back in time.’

‘Oh great, it’s the frickin 1960s,’ Charlotte muttered. ‘I’m not wearing a miniskirt for anyone.’

‘Relax, Charlie, it’s...’

‘Charlotte.’

‘Hey, is that a Wimpy?’ Nectarine said suddenly. ‘I haven’t seen one of them in thirty years!’ And with that, he wandered off in the direction of said burger bar.

‘Well we needed some breakfast,’ Sam said with a shrug, and set off after him.

The Wimpy was a strange hybrid of burger bar and restaurant; the menu was so beef-oriented the mascot was a cartoon Yeoman Warder, but they sat on proper wooden chairs, around a proper wooden table, at which their sausage in a bun would be presented on a proper (Wimpy branded) china plate, with a proper made-in-Sheffield knife and fork.

'Don’t worry,’ Phil said when he saw the look of bemusement on Charlotte’s face. ‘Most of these places will be Burger Kings in ten years.’

‘You really think this is 1982?'

Phil nodded.

‘Great,’ she said. ‘I’m a negative teenager!’

‘Well, in a way, I suppose...’ Phil said.

‘I take it you have a plan?’

‘What?’

‘You know, a plan, or at least some sort of idea what you’re going to do next?’

‘Well I thought maybe we-’

‘Oh no,’ Charlotte interrupted. ‘There’s no we. I didn’t vote to leave 2017, it’s not down to me to sort this mess out.’

‘I don’t think any of us would have chosen this,’ Sam said.

‘Well actually, I’m-’ Phil started.

‘Shut it.’ Sam glared at him.

‘Burger Kings you say?’ Charlotte said into the awkward silence.

‘Mostly,’ Phil said.

‘Thank goodness for that.’ Sam turned her attention to the menu. ‘I was beginning to think they’ll have waitress service here.’

They were still perusing the heavily beef-influenced menu when a member of staff came over, somewhat randomly, and left four milkshakes in the middle of their table. ‘Your burgers will be along in a few minutes,’ she said.

‘Oh I’m sorry,’ Phil said, despite a nudge from Nectarine. ‘We didn’t order yet.’

‘I know,’ the waitress said. ‘These are from the lady in the corner.’

They all looked over simultaneously.

‘Is that...?’ Phil whispered.

‘Joanna Lumley?’ Sam finished.

‘What’s Joanna Lumley doing buying us milkshakes?’ Phil whispered excitedly.

‘Yeah,’ Charlotte said. ‘Who drinks milkshakes at 9.30 in the morning?’

‘She must fancy one of us,’ Nectarine said, taking a slurp from one of the glasses. ‘Ew!’ he added. ‘Lime!’

‘Man, we have to get out of here,’ Charlotte muttered. ‘The 80s are just too weird.’

‘She's coming over,’ Sam whispered.

‘Crap!’ Nectarine said. ‘Do I look suave enough?’

‘You’re a babe magnet,’ Charlotte deadpanned.

Joanna Lumley pulled a chair up to the next table; keeping her back to the group, she leaned back and said quietly, ‘I left a message with the milkshakes.’

While they looked back at the tray of drinks, Joanna slipped off silently.

‘Does she mean this?’ Nectarine said, picking up one of the paper napkins from the tray, and eyeing a strange doodle suspiciously.

Someone had scribbled out a small cartoon Beefeater and drawn a crude representation of Dodge Spacevan in felt tip in his place. At the end of an arrow pointing away from the badly drawn van - the target, so to speak - was written, somewhat cryptically, the two words ‘Kempston interface’.

‘Well she could have at least signed it,’ Phil said downheartedly.

‘What kind of message is that?’ Sam asked.

‘That’s not a message, it’s a doodle,’ Nectarine said. ‘The actual message was probably ‘don’t try the lime milkshake, it’s disgusting and makes you hiccup all the time’ and we’re just over-complicating matters?’

‘Didn’t she buy the lime milkshake?’ Charlotte pointed out.

‘Bloody celebrities,’ Nectarine muttered. ‘Mean little practical jokers, the lot of ’em.’

‘Know lots of celebrities, do you?’ Phil asked.

‘I’ve been around.’

‘Where has she got to with those burgers?’ Sam said, hoping to change the subject.

‘Relax, it’s a Wimpy,’ Phil said. ‘Fast food, but not as we know it.’

‘That’s just food, surely?’ Sam said.

‘Not yet it isn’t,’ Charlotte said.

Eventually four Wimpy King Size meals were delivered to their table and enjoyed as only the survivors of a prehistoric theme park gone awry could enjoy hamburgers. Once fed, a brief walk around the town centre led them inexorably to the door of Aylesbury Micros, despite it being hidden down one of the town’s more obscure little alleys, opposite a VG, where Charlotte and Sam wandered off to make some purchases of their own.

A sign on the door offered modem time for rent - enquire within. Phil entered the shop, Nectarine hot on his heels - so hot, in fact, that he tripped over them when Phil stopped dead, in awe of the Aladdin’s cave he had just nonchalantly wandered into.

The place was stacked floor to ceiling with computers - boxes stacked on shelves with neatly handwritten labels on them bearing archaic symbols such as ‘Acorn’ and ‘Vic-20’ and ‘Sinclair’.

A man stood behind the counter, patiently waiting for Phil and Nectarine to come the rest of the way into the shop and, if his luck was in, decide to want something. They both looked around, oblivious to him - and to the door behind them, which jangled as it opened, and to Charlotte, who wandered in saying something like: ‘Have they made these bigger now?’ to Sam.

Phil looked around to see what she was on about, but she was busy wrapping her chops around a chewy chocolate bar so Phil decided it wasn’t actually that important after all.

‘Hey guys, you’re blocking the doorway!’ Charlotte called from the, well, doorway.

Phil snapped out of his retro reverie, and stepped over to the Sinclair section of the shop, currently stacked with ZX81s and 16K RAM packs and one or two more specialised peripherals, and a large notice saying ‘ZX Spectrum sold out, new stock due in next week. Place orders now for 20% deposit.’

'Woah,’ Nectarine said in his best Bill and Ted voice.

‘Uh-huuh,’ Phil agreed, still dumbstruck by the whole affair.

‘What’s the deal guys?’ Sam said. ‘Have they got what you want?’

Phil glanced around at the shelves stacked with computers so obscure even he hadn’t heard of some of them.

‘They have everything I’ve ever wanted,’ he breathed.

‘Is there something specific you were looking for?’ the shopkeeper asked helpfully.

‘Um,’ Phil stammered. ‘I don't suppose you have...’

‘If it’s a ZX Spectrum you’re after, the sign says it all,’ the shopkeeper said.

‘Oh no,’ Phil said. ‘I’ve got enough actual Spectrums. Er, that is, I’ve got one, and, well, one is enough for anyone, right?’ he added, seeing the look of confusion which crossed the shopkeepers face.

‘Right,’ the shopkeeper said uncertainly. ‘So...?’

Sam smiled at the shopkeeper and pulled Phil aside. ‘He’ll just browse for a moment longer, if that’s ok.’

The shopkeeper nodded and turned his attention to two excited teenagers who had just entered the shop with, apparently, about a year’s paper round money each.

‘What’s the matter with you?’ Sam whispered.

‘The Spectrum has only just been released,’ Phil said.

‘What?’

‘Well, you know,’ Phil nodded towards the shelves full of pre-Spectrum computer hardware. ‘I could stock up.’

‘Dad, stop it,’ Charlotte interrupted.

‘This could be the best investment opportunity we’ll ever have,’ he whispered.

‘Can we concentrate on things that will be useful in the here and now?’ Sam suggested. ‘Whatever now this is.’

‘Only if I can keep the boxes.’

‘Of course you can keep the boxes,’ Sam said.

‘OK, let’s see what we can find then...’

‘It wouldn’t matter if you offered me twice the retail price,’ the shopkeeper was explaining to the teenagers as patiently as a man who ran his business on a ZX81, ‘I don’t have anything to sell you. I wish I did, but I don’t. Ask me again next week.’

‘You said that last week,’ one of the lads muttered, and they turned to make their surly way past Phil as he painstakingly compared two identical boxes.

The four of them had pooled their resources, and between them managed to find the money for a modem interface and speech synthesiser which Phil could get to work with the ZX81; he made a point of picking the examples with the least damaged boxes and placing them carefully on the counter.

‘What’s this?’ the shopkeeper said when he handed over the cash. ‘Some sort of a joke?’

‘What?’ Phil said, genuinely nonplussed.

‘I don’t take Monopoly money,’ he said, rather predictably, and thrust the money back into Phil’s hand like a one man cliché store.

‘I don’t...’ he started to protest, but Sam was already dragging him away from the best place on earth. ‘Very sorry,’ she called back to the shopkeeper. ‘Our mistake, we’ll come back, if that’s ok.’

‘As long as you bring legal tender,’ the man growled.

‘Legal tender?’ Phil said. ‘What...’

Phil found himself bundled, somewhat against his will, out of Aylesbury Micros, from where Sam led him by the hand back to the main High Street, which was now beginning to bustle slightly. 

‘How come you and Moon Caster-’ Doc Nectarine started.

‘Oh god, can everyone just please call me Charlotte?’

‘How come you and Charlotte managed to stock up on chocolate and bubble gum?’

‘I spent 20p!’ Charlotte protested.

‘They had the twenty pence coin in 1982,’ Sam pointed out. ‘You just tried to buy electronics with a fistful of plastic fivers.’

‘Ohhhhh,’ Phil said sheepishly. ‘Crap, sorry. Blinded by the possibilities, the rare gems....’ He gazed longingly back towards the store.

‘Eyes front, soldier,’ Charlotte said. ‘You can’t empty that poor man’s shelves.’

‘Ok,’ Phil said reluctantly. ‘Sorry.’

Still slightly distracted, Phil was barged by some barely seen rival for the apparently desirable piece of Aylesbury real estate he was temporarily occupying.

‘Hey!’ he said, looking around with his best angry face on, only to fail to intimidate a seemingly nice little old lady. ‘Oh,’ he added, discreetly checking his (largely irrelevant) wallet was still safely tucked inside his coat. ‘Sorry,’ he further added, because it was. ‘Thought you were someone else.’

The old lady scowled at him not-so-nicely, and went off, probably to crochet an effigy of Phil on which to practice voodoo.

‘Chill, Phil,’ Sam said.

Phil tried to chill, but a flash of colour glimpsed in the corner of his eye put his paranoia back on high alert.

‘Let’s get back to the Ambivalence and plan our next move, shall we?’ she suggested.

‘I still need a coffee,’ Phil muttered, but followed her anyway.
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Mission 2: Kyo

“Direction of Energy”


‘What’s this?’ Phil said to himself, pulling a piece of crumpled paper out of his pocket as he approached the Ambivalence.

‘Well with any luck,’ Doc Nectarine said, ‘it’s a 1982 vintage £20 pound note.’

‘Actually it is,’ Phil said, with an undertone of surprise. ‘Which is weird enough on its own.’

‘What do you mean?’ Sam said, leaning in to see, as if an out of circulation twenty was some kind of major tourist trap.

‘There’s a note attached to it,’ Phil said.

‘Didn’t know they had post-its in 1982,’ Sam wondered, missing the point somewhat.

‘What is it?’ Nectarine asked.

‘It’s a piece of yellow paper with a self-adhesive strip along the top,’ Sam explained, ‘but that's not important right now.’

‘I think it’s a page from a magazine,’ Charlotte said.

‘Yeah,’ Phil leaned in to read the torn page. ‘Looks like half the hints and tips page.’

‘What are you carrying that around for?’ Nectarine asked.

‘I’m not,’ Phil said. ‘Well, I am, but not consciously. That little voodoo lady must have slipped it into my pocket.’

‘And on a post-it note too,’ Sam said. ‘That’s weird.’

‘The post-it is on the map,’ Phil explained. ‘The map is on a page torn out of...’ He looked closely at the crumpled page. ‘Your Sinclair.’

‘Right,’ Nectarine said, losing interest. ‘But there is twenty quid too?’

‘Yes,’ Phil said. ‘We’ll worry about what this means later,’ he added, thrusting the page at Sam.

‘Why does it have to mean anything?’ Nectarine said, climbing into the third front seat.

‘Do you think it’s connected to the note from Joanna Lumley?’ Sam said, examining the incomplete map.

‘That's a bit of a stretch isn’t it?’ Nectarine said.

‘A bit of a coincidence if not though,’ Phil added thoughtfully.

‘So every weird coincidence has to be part of some bigger picture now?’ Nectarine said cynically.

‘That’s kind of the way life works, isn’t it?’ Phil said.

‘Obviously,’ Nectarine didn’t agree.

‘So the question is, what’s it about?’ Sam asked. ‘Is it about us being in 1982, or the Hex...’

‘Or the Assembly,’ Phil suggested.

‘Wait wait wait,’ Nectarine interrupted. ‘Now you’re suggesting that there is somebody else here who knows about us and the Assembly?’

‘Yes,’ Phil agreed. ‘I suppose I sort of am.’

‘Do you realise how crazy that sounds?’ Nectarine said.

‘Yeah, actually, I do,’ Phil said. ‘It sounds about as crazy as being stuck 35 years ago in a Dodge Spacevan with a sentient ZX81.’

‘Fair point,’ Nectarine conceded.

‘Who else would know we’re here?’ Sam asked. ‘And why be so cryptic if they want to help us?’

‘Maybe they’re not helping,’ Nectarine suggested.

‘Well clearly they’re not, much,’ Charlotte said.

‘You think they’re trying to hinder us?’ Sam said. 

‘Distract us with cryptic puzzles when we could be looking for a way home?’ Nectarine wondered aloud. ‘Not the most bizarre thing I’ve heard today.’

An uncomfortable silence filled the Ambivalence as the four humans sat in the back, waiting for Dexy to join them.

GREETINGS, the word popped up on the screen eventually.

Phil had to admit that was an improvement over the inverted K that he was more accustomed to seeing as confirmation of a working Zeddy.

‘Morning Dexy,’ Phil said. ‘I take it from your cheery disposition that the Entelechus Hex is somehow still in operation?’

ZERO ZERO.

‘What?’ Charlotte whispered.

‘It’s ZX81 for ‘ok’,’ Phil explained.

‘Course it is.’

IT IS NOW EMBEDDED WITHIN MY READ ONLY MEMORY.

‘Clever,’ Nectarine said.

‘Avoids the problem of tape loading errors,’ Phil agreed. ‘Dexy? You had... something to do with that stuff last night, right?’

THAT WAS NOT MY FAULT!

‘Not looking to blame you bud, just figure out what happened,’ Phil said. ‘What happened?’

Dexy was silent. Well, more silent than usual for a ZX81.

‘Dex?’

WORKING.

‘Sorry.’

I AM LIMITED TO 16 KILOBYTES OF MEMORY, Dexy reminded him. THERE IS ONLY SO MUCH I CAN REMEMBER.

‘So you don’t remember what happened?’ Sam asked.

‘With the T. rex, and Palaeozoic Park reopening?’ Phil added.

VIKTOR WENDIG USED THE ENTELECHUS HEX, ALONG WITH THE K-TECH REAL TIME DEVICE, TO ACTUALISE FIRST A GAME OF 3D MONSTER MAZE, AND THEN A TIME-SPACE PORTAL. LOGIC SUGGESTS THAT WE ARE NOW ON THE OTHER SIDE OF THAT PORTAL.

‘What do Wendig and his Assembly want in 1982?’

UNKNOWN.

‘I doubt if they’ve come to save the kittens, based on past experience,’ Sam suggested.

‘Indeed,’ Phil agreed.

‘But they escaped,’ Charlotte said. ‘We don’t know where they are, and they’re not our problem.’

‘We have the Hex, Charlotte,’ Sam soothed. ‘We might be able to stop them.’

‘Still not our problem.’

‘We might be the only ones who can stop them,’ Phil said.

‘Still not-’

‘We seem to be on the wrong side of a time-space portal,’ Nectarine interrupted. ‘Whichever way you look at it, that is our problem.’

Charlotte grunted miserably.

‘Dexy?’ Phil said, still eyeing Charlotte suspiciously.

WOULD YOU LIKE TO PLAY A GAME? Dexy asked.

‘Sure,’ Phil replied. ‘How about a sort of logic puzzle?’

GO AHEAD.

‘If somebody was to find themselves on the wrong side of a time-space portal such as you mention,’ Phil started.

CONTINUE...

‘And if they found themselves, say, 35 years in the past,’ Phil continued. ‘How would they return to their own time?’

THE SAME WAY THEY TRAVELLED BACK IN TIME. LOGICALLY SPEAKING.

‘Back through the time-space portal?’

LOGICALLY SPEAKING, YES, Dexy replied.

‘Thanks, Dex,’ Phil said.

‘So what, we need to fire up that hex again?’ Charlotte asked.

‘I think we may be missing something,’ Nectarine said.

‘Like what?’

‘I’m not sure,’ Nectarine said, ‘but I’m not sure we can use the hex properly without knowing... how to use it properly. We don’t know what it does or anything.’

‘Well, we-’ Phil started.

‘OK, we sort of know what it does,’ Nectarine agreed tetchily. ‘But may I remind you that we are working with a 30-odd-year-old type in listing with no instructions or anything.’

‘Wait,’ Sam said. ‘What?’

‘What what?’ Nectarine said.

‘What did you just say?’

‘We don’t have the instructions.’

‘Before that.’

‘We sort of know what it does.’

‘No, forward a bit,’

‘Type in listing?’

‘Thirty years old,’ Phil realised.

‘That was an approximation,’ Nectarine said, just in case he was going to get berated for it.

‘Exactly,’ Phil said.

‘No,’ Nectarine repeated, ‘approximately.’

‘So it could have been written any time after...’ Sam looked to Phil.

‘After 1981,’ he said.

‘So the original coder could be around right now, maybe working with it, maybe with it fresh in her mind...’

‘Her mind?’ Nectarine said.

‘Well why the heck not?’ Sam said. ‘Does it matter?’

Nectarine shrugged. ‘Spose not,’ he mumbled.

‘We could find her,’ Phil said. ‘Figure it out. Get her to send us back...’

‘Don’t even finish that sentence,’ Charlotte interrupted.

‘Dexy?’ Phil said.

WOULD YOU LIKE TO PLAY A GAME?

‘Er, not right now, thanks,’ Phil said. ‘Can you get online and track down the location of the author of the Hex Code?’

‘Like there’s an internet in 1982,’ Charlotte muttered ironically.

THE TERM INTERNET WAS FIRST USED IN 1982, Dexy informed her. TCP/IP PROTOCOLS ARE AVAILABLE. I WILL BE ABLE TO GET ONLINE - THERE IS A VERY GOOD POSSIBILITY THAT AN INDIVIDUAL WITH ADVANCED CODING SKILLS WILL ALSO BE AN EARLY ADOPTER OF INTERNET CONNECTIVITY, IN WHICH CASE, YES, I WILL BE ABLE TO TRACK DOWN THEIR LOCATION.

‘Good job,’ Phil said.

HOWEVER, Dexy added.

‘Yes?’ Phil said into the ominous pause.

HOWEVER, IT WILL TAKE ME SOME TIME.

‘We don’t have millions of years, Dex,’ Phil sighed.

ALSO A TELEPHONE LINE.

‘Right, no 4G,’ Phil said. ‘Do you have any other suggestions?’

YOU COULD CONSULT A RELEVANT PERIODICAL, Dexy suggested.

‘What?’ Phil asked.

‘He means look at a magazine, dunderhead,’ Nectarine said.

‘Like a copy of Sinclair User?’ Phil said.

AFFIRMATIVE.

‘Please don’t say that,’ Phil said. ‘Makes you sound like a tin dog.’

YES, MASTER.

‘Oh very good,’ Phil said. ‘Not only do I have the world’s first sentient ZX81, I’ve got one with a sense of humour too.’

AFFIRMA-

‘Shut it!’ Phil interrupted. ‘Better,’ he added once Dexy had shut it.

‘Let’s not forget that we have only twenty pounds between us, though,’ Nectarine said.

‘Thanks, Doctor Buzzkill.’

Sam pointed out of the front window. ‘There’s a library over there.’

‘This is no time to be thinking about the latest Barbara Cartland,’ Phil said.

‘I’m not sure about Aylesbury in 1982, but I remember libraries carrying quite a good stock of periodicals,’ she pointed out.

‘Aren’t Spectrum titles a bit specialised?’ Nectarine asked. ‘What with it being brand new and all?’

‘Maybe,’ Sam said. ‘But maybe that will make them a thing that would be worth having a copy of?’

‘Or maybe the ZX81 is already sufficiently popular that they will have a copy of, say, ZX Computing?’ Phil added, pulling a copy of ZX Computing out from under a bench seat.

‘Is there anything this van of wonders cannot do?’ Nectarine said sarcastically as he reached down to a crate of magazines.

‘Shut up, Nectarine,’ Phil said, smacking him upside the head with a copy of ZX Computing. ‘But while you’re down there, grab a few more copies.’

‘What are we looking for, exactly?’ Sam asked as she was handed a magazine.

‘I don’t know exactly,’ Phil said, flicking through his copy. ‘Code, hex specifically. New programming breakthroughs, techniques, results... new technologies... you know, the sort of things that have been chasing us for the last 35 years.’

‘Technically the next 35 years,’ Charlotte corrected.

‘You know what I mean,’ Phil said. ‘Talk about time travel makes me tense.’

Someone else who had been talking about time travel was Viktor Wendig, who was, as usual, gloating about his enormous success to his far less successful henchmen.

‘Any day now, K-Tech will start working on their Real Time device, which will open up a literal world of new possibilities for the Entelechus Hex,’ he said, apparently forgetting that while Benito Stetson could not see through his sackcloth headgear, he could still hear pretty well.

‘But we already got one,’ Grell said. ‘Why come to the launch party?

‘There’s not going to be a launch party. We’re going to stop development before it starts!’

‘I hate to be a spoilsport,’ Fella chipped in with her most headmistressy voice. ‘But did you pay attention in the paradox lessons?’

Wendig took a couple of paces in silence. ‘You worry too much,’ he said eventually.

Just then a quiet but most irritating siren sounded - from its tinny quality, Benny guessed it was generated by one of Wendig’s Spectrums.

‘What’s that?’ Fella said.

‘There’s a disturbance in the Chuntey,’ Wendig said.

‘How...’

‘The Entelechus is a powerful and multi-faceted piece of code,’ Wendig cut her off. ‘It seems that when we opened the portal, we weren’t the only ones to make use of it.’

‘So?’ Grell said.

‘So, my hard of thinking young friend, when you travel by Entelechus, the Entelechus watches you.’ Wendig tapped at keys, a rather crude, pixelated map of the British Isles responding to his commands. ‘It seems Mr Stetson here made quite an impression on his new friends - and they followed us all through the portal.’

Benny chuckled, earning himself an unexpected kick in the shins from Fella’s unnecessarily pointy boots.

‘Currently,’ Wendig said, looking closely at the map before him. ‘They appear to be holed up about an hour’s drive away. I think one of us should go and find them, before they find us...’

‘This is hopeless,’ Phil said, adding another magazine to the stack on the floor. ‘It’s like looking for a needle in a haystack.’

WHAT DO YOU WANT WITH A NEEDLE?

‘No, Dex, it’s just an expression,’ Charlotte explained; Phil had long since grown weary of explaining every little colloquialism to a ZX81.

‘And I still haven’t had a coffee,’ Phil said. ‘I vote we go and spend some of our little windfall.’

‘We don’t know how long that will have to last,’ Nectarine said.

‘If he doesn’t get coffee soon, that’s not going to matter,’ Charlotte pointed out.

‘Ok,’ Sam said, ‘so we go and get some coffee. How the hell are we going to survive indefinitely on what’s left?’

Nectarine pointed towards a small shop front on an alley near the car park.

‘What’s that?’ Phil said, bemused again.

‘The Tote,’ Nectarine said.

‘Can I have another clue please?’

‘It’s like an old style BetFred,’ Nectarine explained.

‘I didn’t realise bets had changed,’ Sam said. ‘And don’t call me Fred.’

‘If we were to put a small bet on something we know will win...’ Nectarine continued.

‘I don’t know about you,’ Phil said, ‘but my knowledge of horse racing - never mind specific races - is, to say the least, non-existent.’

‘Guys,’ Charlotte said, pointing to a poster on the side of a pub. ‘It looks like the World Cup is on at the moment. Surely you know who won that?’

They looked from one to the other, hoping someone would turn out to be a sports geek.

‘Oh great,’ Charlotte said. ‘The world cup has the chance to save me and I’m stranded with the only two guys who know less about football than Roy Hodgson.’

‘Roy who?’ Phil said.

Charlotte rolled her eyes. ‘I’ll be back in a minute,’ she said, and got out of the van.

Mission 3: Toh
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Mission 3: Toh

“Harmony with the Universe”
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It is a truth universally acknowledged, that a teenage boy in possession of a year’s paper round money must be in want of a Spectrum. At least, it is in 1982; and that is why Charlotte closed the van’s rear door in a very deliberate and intentionally final sort of way, and slipped off into the car park.

Unfortunately, a 21st Century goth in 1980s Aylesbury is almost a textbook example of conspicuity, so she was forced to summon an inner ninja she had not previously been aware of, skulking between rows of cars, stealthy as a shadow in the dead of night.

‘Charlie!’

‘Charlotte!’ she hissed, out of habit, not wanting her father to find her lest he draw unnecessary attention. 

Taking cover behind something called a Matra Rancho she looked around for him, but could see nothing; hopefully he was causing bother somewhere else and drawing attention away from her so she could finish her little side-quest.

Charlotte turned her attention back to her quarry - two teenage boys in need of a Spectrum - when an unusual flash of colour in the corner of her eye caught her attention. It was only the briefest glimpse, but something definitely out of place; it was either some sort of optical illusion, like one of those 3d images you can only see when you look through it, or it was hiding. Hiding in plain sight, maybe.

‘Never mind,’ she told herself, leaving the safety of her Rancho to hurry after the paperboys before they wandered out of sight. Seeing them turn, Charlotte dipped between two Minis (Sam would be pleased to see so many of the little blighters out in the wild) and made to head them off before they went out of sight - or worse, got in their Mum’s Austin Allegro.

Breaking cover, she hurried through the car park, rounding a Fiat 127 just in time to find herself face to spotty teenage face with the paperboys she was looking for.

‘Hi!’ she said, as cheerily as her hippy goth image would permit.

The two lads glanced at each other nervously. Charlotte wouldn’t have been surprised if a puddle had begun to appear at their feet, such was the terror this creature known as woman held for the early teenage nerd.

‘Er, hi?’ one of them said, and for some reason carried on walking.

‘Wait!’ Charlotte fell in step next to the slightly less introverted one. ‘I just wanted to make a... business proposition.’

‘What?’ he stammered.

‘I think I have something you might want.’

‘I- I don’t want to see your-’

‘Stop!’ Charlotte held her hand up, very nearly smacking him in the face. ‘Don’t even think the end of that sentence.’

Charlotte followed them out of the car park and onto an open patch of grass which separated the town centre from the suburban utopia of Aylesbury.

‘I meant a Spectrum,’ she said. ‘You guys want a Spectrum, right?’

‘Well, yeah, but-’

‘Charlie?’

‘Ah cockfosters,’ she sighed.

‘That your boyfriend?’

‘It’s my dad, how the hell old do you think I am?’

‘I don’t know,’ the boy stammered. ‘I mean, I can’t see how old that guy - I mean, your dad - is, so...’

‘Ok, stop gibbering and follow me.’

Charlotte turned to get out of sight, but was instead accosted by a large, serious looking man in a suit that had tried its best to fit but ultimately decided some things were just not meant to be.

‘Oh not you as well!’ she groaned.

‘Is this your boyfriend?’ he sounded even more terrified now.

‘Definitely not!’ she said, to the clear relief of everyone but the serious man in the suit. ‘What are you doing here, Grell?’

‘Stopping you before you do something Mr Wendig might regret.’

‘Charlie!’

‘Not now dad,’ she sighed.

Grell grinned. ‘Two for one!’

Just then there was another flash of colour, this one much bigger, much closer, and in a blink there stood beside them a figure in black martial arts type clothing, holding a sword in one hand and a throwing star in the other.

‘Not today you don’t,’ this new stranger said in a gruff voice.

‘Woah, woah there soldier!’ Charlotte said, now distinctly worried about that aforementioned puddle making an appearance. Possibly even at her own feet. ‘Go easy with the silverware, huh?’

The man with the silverware turned to face her - although this revealed only his eyes, and Charlotte paused to take in how bizarre it was that this person has chosen to dress from head to foot in costume - in this instance a ninja, complete with scary ass sword that he was hardly ever allowed to take out of the house - and then stick a yellow hi-vis vest over the top of the whole affair.

‘Sorry ma’am,’ he said. ‘Is this man bothering you?’

Charlotte nodded. ‘He has been for the next 35 years.’

Without further warning the hi-vis ninja had secreted his sword about his person, and in a blur of yellow and black, took Grell’s legs away from under him and had the big man flat on his back and only bothering anyone in his dreams.

‘Charlie!’

‘Dad, don’t-’

But it was too late, and in his excitement to come to his daughter’s aid, Phil had found himself nose to nose with a combat ready ninja, a development which so startled him that he immediately fell backwards, cracking his head rather nastily on a shovel he had not previously noticed lying, abandoned, on the ground.

‘Dad!’ Charlotte ran to his aid. ‘Are you ok?’

‘Ah hell, sorry,’ said the random ninja, crouching beside Phil. ‘Didn’t mean to startle you. Well, ok, I meant to startle you, didn’t mean to scare the living crap out of you though. Are you ok?’

Phil blinked a few times until the crowd of out of focus ninjas combined into a single entity, and then rubbed his eyes again, just to make sure he wasn’t seeing things.

Once he was pretty sure he wasn’t, he almost asked, but decided against it. If there was a reason a ninja would be wearing a hi-vis vest over his ninja suit he probably didn’t need to know it.

He rubbed the back of his head where it had hit the shovel - there was no sign of blood, but he thought a fairly impressive looking bump might be forming there before long.

‘I think I’ll be ok,’ he said, taking the hi-vis ninja’s offered hand and getting to his feet.

‘Good,’ the ninja said. ‘Maybe we should pick this up,’ he added, picking up the shovel. ‘Could do someone a nasty injury lying around under the grass like that.’

‘You think?’ Phil said.

The ninja nodded. ‘If they were startled maybe, and fell over, for instance,’ he said.

‘I see,’ Phil said.

‘Are you sure you’re ok?’ Charlotte said.

Phil nodded.

‘Apologies, Nina,’ the ninja said. ‘I’m sure you had the situation under control.’

‘What?’

‘You do have impressive-’

‘Careful!’

‘-ninja skills.’

‘Wait, what?’ Charlotte said.

‘Well, these two are certainly scared of you,’ he nodded towards the teenagers, whose expressions somehow managed to combine complete awe and butt-clenching terror.

‘Well...’ one of the nerds protested.

‘No, he’s right,’ the other one said, his voice high pitched and wavering.

‘Sorry, who did you say you were?’ Phil asked.

‘Gary,’ said the ninja.

‘Gary?’

‘Don’t blame me,’ he said. ‘My mum liked it.’

‘Right,’ said Phil.

‘Well, thanks Gary,’ Charlotte said.

‘Nina-’

‘Who’s Nina?’ Charlotte asked.

‘I thought you were Nina?’

‘I’ve been called a lot of things, but so far Nina hasn’t been one of them,’ Charlotte said. ‘Actually, neither has an impressive ninja- wait, have you been following me?’

‘Actually, I was following your friend back there,’ Gary pointed a thumb back at the still reclining Grell. ‘But I think he may have been following you.’

‘Really?’

Gary nodded. ‘Any idea why that would be?’

‘None that make any sense,’ Charlotte admitted. ‘What’s your deal with him?’

‘It’s just a gig,’ he said.

‘Um...’ one of the teenagers ventured. ‘You mentioned a Spectrum?’

‘Of course I did,’ Charlotte said.

‘You mentioned what?’ Phil had had some pretty exasperating conversations with his daughter over the years, but he sensed an impending entry on the high score table.

‘That they could have one of your Spectrums,’ Charlotte replied.

‘Each?’

‘Well, I didn’t want to pick one,’ she explained. ‘Whoever I chose might... get the wrong idea.’

‘You could have picked neither,’ Phil reminded her.

‘But then we wouldn’t be getting three hundred quid from them,’ Charlotte pointed out. ‘Three hundred,’ she whispered, ‘contemporary English pounds.’

Phil seethed quietly for a moment, before deciding that, on balance, cash was probably slightly more important right now. ‘Alright Charlie, you win.’

‘If I changed my name to Princess Consuela Bananahammock, would you still call me that?’

‘Sorry,’ Phil said, ‘Charlotte.’

‘Thank you,’ Charlotte said. ‘And don’t forget, if we can time travel, you can always replace them later.’

‘Follow me, boys,’ he said, setting off slightly unsteadily towards the ambivalence.

The ninja - Gary - picked up the spade as promised and followed along behind. ‘You don’t see many ninjas around here,’ he said, aware that it sounded a somewhat weak pick-up line.

‘I hate to break it to you, Gary,’ Charlotte eyed his anachronistic hi-vis, ‘but that’s kinda the point.’

‘Don’t knock the hi-vis,’ Gary said. ‘Once you go orange, you’ll never go back.’

‘I think you’ve taken that expression so far out of context you’d need the Hubble space telescope to even see it,’ Charlotte said.

‘What kind of ninja are you anyway?’

‘I’m not a ninja,’ Charlotte said. ‘Why would you think I am?’

‘What?’ Gary said, as if genuinely not understanding or hearing what she had just said. ‘You’re dressed like one.’

Charlotte looked down at her outfit, as if it might have changed since she last checked. ‘I’m a goth, not an epping ninja,’ she said.

‘Well, you’re in black, you’re practically half way there,’ Gary insisted. 

‘Don’t be ridiculous,’ she said. ‘You look like a lollipop lady, but I don’t suppose you’re about to start escorting 8-year-olds across the street any time soon are you?’

‘I promise you,’ he said in his meanest, most teeth gritted voice, ‘if I so much as sniff an 8-year-old in trouble, I will do everything in my power to see them safely on their way home.’

‘Most admirable,’ Charlotte agreed. ‘But I’m still not a ninja. And neither, I am beginning to seriously suspect, are you,’ she added.

‘There are more types of ninja, Charlotte, than are dreamt of in your philosophy.’

‘And what are you, a Shakespeare ninja?’

‘No, look, you have your basic ninja warrior, the bionic ninja, the BMX ninja, ninja turtles...’

‘And which are you?’

‘I’m a ninja saboteur.’

Charlotte suspected there was a smug grin beneath his ninja mask at that moment.

The last time Benny had been allowed anywhere near Wendig’s computers, he had inadvertently triggered the Entelechus Hex and added several underground passages and some kind of metro system to the Assembly’s secret command centre.

Although Wendig himself was initially less than ecstatic that Benny had been let anywhere near his stuff, he soon came to realise the benefits of his newly expanded lair and eased up a little on Benny.

And so, with Grell despatched to find the Ambivalence crew and Wendig still exploring his network of tunnels and caverns, it didn’t take much for Benny to persuade Fella to untie him ‘for a quick go on Tranz Am’.

‘Dammit!’ she shouted. ‘Looks like it’s your go again... what are you doing?’

Benny tried not to look too guilty. ‘Er... text adventure,’ he said. ‘Just thought I’d have a look while you were driving, see if it was any good.’

‘And?’

‘And what?’

‘And is it any good?’ Fella asked.

‘Um...’ Benny shrugged. ‘It’s ok. Just got a taranshula crawling up my leg at the moment.’

‘Lovely.’ Fella screwed up her already unattractive nose. ‘Mind if I have a go?’

‘No!’ Benny said rather too keenly - he had hoped the giant spider would put her off, but would have to think quickly instead. ‘Er, I mean, you wouldn’t like it,’ he added. ‘The spelling is terrible. And the grammar - don’t get me started on the grammar!’

‘OK, point taken,’ Fella said. ‘I’ll just watch and learn from your Tranz Am skills instead.’

Benny gritted his teeth and settled down for another quick cross-country blast, although his thoughts were inevitably distracted by the ‘text adventure’ on the next computer over, which was in fact sending coded messages out to bulletin board systems with what snippets of information he had been able to find out, in the hope that Phil Grundy or Doc Nectarine would find them and, consequently, find him.

It was a slow and tedious process, like playing chess by mail, only instead of chess it’s Monopoly, and the mail is carried by pigeon.

And Benny was only a dice throw away from a fully developed Mayfair.

Mission 4: Sha
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Mission 4: Sha

“Healing of Self and Others”
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Sam Cooper and Doc Nectarine, meanwhile, were hunched over a doily somewhere in downtown Aylesbury, between them a damaged fragment of a video game map drawn by a schoolboy with pretentions of being some kind of 8-bit pirate.

Sensing the impending family drama, they had slipped off in search of somewhere quiet to puzzle over the map fragment that had been mysteriously handed to them, on the wild assumption that it was some kind of a clue - although to what, they had so far no idea.

First they had settled down in what used to be - or would be? - Starbucks, and was, for the time being, a greengrocers.

‘Oi,’ the greengrocer said. ‘You can’t just sit on my floor and have a chat! What do you think you’re playing at?’

‘Oh,’ Sam said charmingly. ‘Sorry, I, er, thought this was a Starbucks.’

‘What?’ the greengrocer said, now looking more of a red grocer as he tried to contain his annoyance.

‘We’ll just be heading off now,’ Nectarine said.

‘Bloody Battlestar Galactica fans,’ the red grocer muttered behind them as they left.

‘Never mind,’ Nectarine said. ‘We’ll find somewhere else.’

‘There’s always the Wimpy,’ Sam said.

‘We haven’t got all day,’ Nectarine said.

‘Hey, we’re time travellers,’ Sam smiled. ‘We have as long as we need.’

‘There’s a tea shop,’ Nectarine said, changing the subject.

‘Oh, I remember those!’ Sam said. ‘I wonder if they have Lady Grey?’

‘Whatever keeps you happy,’ Nectarine muttered. ‘As long as it’s a quiet place we can sit down and puzzle this map out, I’m good.’

And so they had found themselves in a quaint little building tucked discretely into an alley off the High Street.

‘So,’ Nectarine said as they sat down. ‘This map. What do we make of it?’

‘Well,’ Sam said. ‘I can make a hat, a brooch, a pterodactyl...’

‘Surely you can’t be serious?’

‘I am serious, but-’

‘The map?’ Nectarine interrupted, pointing pointedly at said magazine cutting.

‘Doctor Jones would never believe this,’ Sam read. ‘We must perform a quirkafleeg... what is all this?’

‘It’s more cryptic than we thought.’

‘Can you google quirkafleeg?’ Sam asked.

‘Sure,’ Nectarine said. ‘Give me about 25 years and I’ll be right on it.’

‘Oh balljoints,’ Sam said. ‘I forgot that.’

‘Yeah,’ Nectarine said. ‘Time travel ain’t all glamour is it?’

‘But none of this means anything.’

‘It must mean something. You don’t give a stranger twenty quid just to take a scrap of paper off your hands.’

‘Maybe the twenty was the clue?’ Sam said.

‘Oh,’ Nectarine made to get up from the table. ‘Shall I just go and ask Dorothy to fetch it back out of the till for us?’

‘Let’s not,’ Sam said. ‘Let’s assume that the map means something.’

‘Quirkafleeg?’ Nectarine said sceptically. ‘Mean something?’

Sam shrugged. ‘It’s all we have,’ she said. ‘And I told Phil we’d figure it out.’

‘Well I wish I knew where to start.’ Doc Nectarine picked the paper up absently, holding it up in front of him, obscuring the look of dawning realisation which crossed Sam’s face.

‘Wait,’ she said suddenly. ‘How did we not see that before?’ she added, snatching the page from Nectarine’s hand.

‘What is it?’

‘The other side,’ she said, holding it in front of him, far too close for him to actually read or make sense of.

‘So?’ he said.

‘So this is what’s important, not some stupid incomplete video game map,’ she explained.

‘So the map is...’ he prompted.

‘Just a stupid incomplete video game map,’ Sam said, ‘and nothing to do with us at all.’

‘So what’s on the other side?’ he asked.

‘An advert,’ she said. ‘Some joystick interface thingy,’ she added, not really knowing what it was.

Nectarine took the page from her. ‘K-Tech Electronics,’ Nectarine read. ‘Isn’t that...’

Sam nodded. ‘They made the Real Time device Wendig was using.’

‘Looks like we found a clue.’

‘Jinkies!’

Now with two fewer Spectrums in his van, but three hundred more pounds lining his pocket, Phil’s attention had turned back to Dexy by the time Charlotte and Gary arrived back at the Ambivalence.

‘I see you brought your new boyfriend,’ Phil said, eyeing Gary with clear distaste.

‘He sort of followed me home,’ Charlotte said.

‘You can’t keep him.’

‘He could be useful.’

‘I’m not sure how,’ Phil said, then turning to Gary. ‘Unless you happen to know where Sam and Doc Nectarine have got to?’

‘They’re over there.’

Phil looked where Gary was pointing, and was irritated to see Sam and Nectarine waving at them.

‘Alright,’ Phil said begrudgingly. ‘He can stay - but just until we find his proper owner!’

‘We figured it out,’ Sam called triumphantly as she approached.

‘Well don’t tell the whole of Buckinghamshire,’ Phil called back.

‘Who’s your friend?’ Sam said to Charlotte once she was within a more discreet distance.

‘This is Gary,’ Charlotte said. ‘He’s a sort of ninja.’

Sam looked Gary up and down curiously, then glanced at Charlotte to check she wasn’t completely taking the mickey. ‘I see,’ she said.

‘He might need a little work,’ Charlotte admitted, ‘but he’s good where it counts.’

‘Oh really?’ Sam winked at her.

‘With his weapon, I meant,’ Charlotte said.

‘Ok, that’s too much information!’

‘I meant his katana?’

‘Ah,’ Sam said. ‘I see.’

‘Can we get back to the general vicinity of the point, please?’ Phil interjected. ‘You figured out why someone was littering my pocket?’ he added in response to Sam’s blank expression.

‘Oh yes!’ She pulled the scrap over paper from her pocket again. ‘On the back of the map... there’s an advert.’

‘So?’

‘On the advert is an address.’

‘That’s sort of how adverts worked in the 80s,’ Phil explained.

‘I know that, dum dum,’ Sam said. ‘Just look at the advert.’

Phil glanced at the offcut Sam was waving in front of him, until suddenly the penny dropped, and he snatched it away from her. ‘Of course!’ he said, pointing at the clipping rather aggressively. ‘Why didn’t I spot this before? Stupid, stupid Philip.’

‘Don’t be so hard on yourself,’ Sam said.

‘Well, unless you deserve it,’ Nectarine added.

Sam kicked him discreetly. ‘What is it? What did you miss?’

‘The quirkafleeg,’ Phil said. ‘There is only one place you can properly perform a quirkafleeg outside of the Sacred Sands of PootWeet-’

‘Poot what?’

‘-and that is on the rooftop of Jet Set Willy’s mansion!’

‘Yeah, you definitely deserve it,’ Nectarine muttered.

‘But that would mean...’

‘What does it mean, Phil?’

‘What it means, my dear Sam, is that there is one fairly significant problem with your suggestion.’

‘There is?’

Phil nodded. ‘There is.’

‘And?’ Nectarine prompted.

‘Jet Set Willy,’ Phil said, as if that explained anything to anyone under the age of 40, ‘came out some time after the Spectrum launched - which, as we found out earlier, is very recent here.’

‘What are you saying?’ Sam asked.

‘I am saying,’ he explained, ‘that this magazine article - this advert - hasn’t been printed yet.’

‘Oh,’ Sam said. ‘That is interesting.’

‘Just interesting?’ he said. ‘Don’t you realise what that means?’

‘Clearly not,’ she shrugged.

Phil leant in close, holding the magazine clipping between him and Sam. ‘This piece of paper,’ he whispered in a conspiratorial manner, ‘is from the future. Or the less distant past, depending which way you look at it. But the fact remains we are not the only time travellers here.’

‘Wendig?’ Sam suggested.

‘No,’ Phil said. ‘Someone else. Whoever planted this on me seems to want to help us.’

‘Yeah, just not enough to actually tell us what we need to know,’ Sam said.

Nectarine shrugged. ‘Maybe they are with the Assembly,’ he said. ‘You know, like a mole.’

‘If that was the case,’ Phil said. ‘This address... K-Tech could be the Assembly’s top secret lair.’

‘Not very secret to post it in Your Sinclair,’ Sam pointed out.

‘Maybe it’s not their lair by then,’ Phil suggested. ‘But it seems pretty clear what we should be doing next.’

‘Road trip?’ Nectarine suggested.

‘Well, yes,’ Phil said. ‘But first, I’m mourning the loss of two Spectrums - I need to visit a computer store.’

‘I hope you’ve got some cold hard cash this time.’ The storekeeper evidently recognised Phil as he and Charlotte walked back into Aylesbury Micros.

‘Indeed I do,’ he said confidently. ‘And I would like to buy some modem time, please.’

‘Modem’s in the back,’ the shopkeeper said.

‘And we can connect our own computer to it?’

‘What computer is it?’

‘ZX81,’ Phil said.

The shopkeeper shook his head. ‘Won’t connect then I’m afraid.’

‘Do you maybe have the right connector that we could borrow?’

‘Look mate, this isn’t the bleedin public library,’ the shopkeeper said. ‘Do you want to buy something, or were you just about to leave?’

‘Do you have a modem compatible with a ZX81?’

‘Over on that shelf.’

Phil went over, found the modem, and also spotted a ZX81 Speech Synthesiser. He shrugged, picked them both up, and paid the man in genuine Sterling notes.

‘Could we use your modem now please?’ he asked once their first transaction was complete.

‘OK Dexy,’ Phil said once he had the menagerie of cables and peripherals in a delicate state of equilibrium, ‘time to get on the information superhighway.’

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

‘We need to track down the origins of the Entelechus Hex.’ Phil spoke softly, not only because of the secret nature of the things he was saying, but also because talking to a ZX81 was generally a good indicator that all is not well in the sanity department. ‘And find a Kempston Interface. And if you come across a Benito Stetson on your travels, we should probably rescue him too.’

AND THE INFORMATION SUPERHIGHWAY?

‘Is the road you’re going to travel in search of them.’

IT SOUNDS TERRIFYING.

‘You’ll be fine,’ Phil said. ‘It’s barely even an A-road at the moment.’

ARE YOU SURE?

‘Go get ‘em big fella.’ Phil hit the key and launched Dexy into cyberspace.

I AM NOT GOING OUT THERE!

‘What?’

IT IS TOO NOISY!

‘What do you mean noisy?’ Phil said. ‘Have you heard yourself loading Hopper?’

NO NEED TO GET PERSONAL.

‘You’re perfectly safe, Dexy,’ Charlotte said.

THERE ARE OTHER COMPUTERS WANTING TO COMMUNICATE.

‘Come on Dex, you’re not normally shy.’

I AM. ORGANICS DO NOT COUNT.

‘Thanks, man. Love you too.’

‘Dexy, just focus on what we’re looking for and swipe left on everything else, ok?’

SWIPE LEFT?

‘Just say no,’ Charlotte clarified.

I AM NOT ENJOYING THIS AT ALL.

‘Hang in there buddy,’ Phil said. ‘We’ll be back to running text adventures offline in no time.’

NO RESULTS ON THE ENTELECHUS HEX.

‘Still too far underground, that makes sense. Anything else?’

NO RESULTS ON KEMPSTON INTERFACE.

‘Disappointing,’ Phil said. ‘And Benny?’

A BENITO S HAS MADE SEVERAL UNANSWERED BULLETIN BOARD POSTS.

‘Benito S?’ Phil and Charlotte both leaned closer at this point.

‘Must be him,’ Charlotte whispered.

‘What does he say?’ Phil asked.

Most of what scrolled up the TV screen then read like a sequence of unintelligible tweets, but a few stood out:

JUST PLAYED SABOTEUR. IT WAS REAL!

K-TECH HAVE IT.

‘K-Tech has the Hex?’ Charlotte whispered.

Phil nodded. ‘Makes sense.’

AT THE CENTRE OF THE UNIVERSE.

THE ASSHOLES ARE HERE.

‘He must mean the Assembly,’ Charlotte whispered.

‘ANUS, of course.’

‘What about the rest?’

‘I’m not sure at the moment, but I hope some of the stuff about Ewoks is just to dilute the real messages and throw the Assembly of the scent.’

CAN I COME BACK NOW?

‘Sure Dex,’ Phil said. ‘Let’s log out while we’re ahead.’

‘Thanks Dexy,’ Charlotte added. ‘Good job.’

‘A ZX81 with performance anxiety,’ Phil muttered. ‘I’ve seen it all now.’

I AM RIGHT HERE!

Phil switched the power off and began packing Dexy and his accessories.

Mission 5: Kai
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Mission 5: Kai

“Premonition of Danger”
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Sam, Charlotte, Gary and Doc Nectarine hunched around Dexy in the back of the Ambivalence as Phil drove towards K-Tech’s offices and factory.

‘Look, we’re getting close to Bedford,’ Phil said. ‘I’ll need some help navigating soon.’

‘No problem,’ Charlotte said. ‘I have satnav on my phone.’

‘Do you indeed?’ Phil said.

‘Oh,’ Charlotte said, looking at the inert lump of electronics in her hand. ‘I guess not.’

‘Don’t worry,’ Sam said. ‘I can do this for you the old school way.’

She unfolded a large scale map showing the area around Kempston, and lay it in front of Dexy. ‘The address on the advert is somewhere around here,’ she said, pointing at a bend in the river.

‘So we’ll approach from the river by rubber dinghy,’ Gary whispered, ‘I’ll make my way through the complex, overpower the guards using only my ninjutsu skills and whatever weapons I can find or take from the guards, find the code, and escape to the roof. There’s probably a helicopter there or something I can steal.’

‘This is an industrial unit in a largely irrelevant English town, not Clamp Towers,’ Sam pointed out. ‘There is no helicopter.’

Gary looked thoughtful for a moment. Well, his eyes did anyway. ‘Alright, how about this,’ he said. ‘I’ll go in by hang glider-’

‘Gary,’ Charlotte interrupted.

‘-drop onto the roof, overpower the guards using only my ninjutsu skills-’

‘Gary.’

‘-and whatever weapons I can find or take from the guards-’

‘Gary.’

‘-find the code, and escape by-’

‘Gary.’

‘-motorcycle, or something.’

‘Gary.’

‘There’s bound to be something I can use. What?’

‘Gary,’ Charlotte said. ‘We’re talking about a tiny electronics workshop, not Dr Claw’s secret command centre.’

‘Alright wise guy,’ Gary said. ‘You got a better idea?’

‘How about we park the Ambivalence around the corner,’ Charlotte suggested, ‘sneak around the back of the building-’

‘On foot?’

‘That’s how I do my best sneaking.’

‘Well it’s not very exciting, but ok.’

‘Break into the unit-’

‘Using only my ninjutsu skills and whatever weapons I can find or take from the guards?’

‘In the unlikely event there are any guards, yes,’ Charlotte conceded.

‘Then we find the code and make our escape by-’

‘Also on foot,’ Charlotte interrupted.

‘Alright,’ Gary sighed. ‘We’ll try it your way.’

‘Wait, what’s that?’ Sam said suddenly.

In front of them, a road appeared to be closed.

‘Crap,’ Phil said. ‘The road appears to be closed.’

‘It’s not a problem,’ Sam said, consulting the map in front of her. ‘Kempston’s not a massive place. Just double back and go round to the next junction, there’s another route in.’

Except that one was blocked too. And the one after that.

‘This is getting ridiculous,’ Phil said. ‘It’s almost as if they’re trying to stop us from getting into Kempston.’

‘Maybe there’s been a bomb scare or something?’ Gary said.

‘In a sleepy suburb of Bedford?’

‘Why not?’

‘Well, it is the 1980s,’ Phil said with a shrug.

‘That’s another one,’ Charlotte said as they approached another blocked road.

‘Ok I’m not going any further,’ Phil said. ‘It’s just a few road signs and a couple of those metal barriers they use to control the lunch queues in schools. We can go round - if there was any real danger of bomby goodness there would be police swinging off the barriers too, which there hasn’t been at any of them.’

‘Are you sure that’s wise?’ Charlotte said.

‘Not in the least,’ Phil said. ‘But it’s all I’ve got, and we have to do something.’

‘Ok, I’ll go and move the barriers,’ Gary volunteered.

‘Somebody will see you,’ Phil said, clearly not getting Gary’s approach to the ninja arts.

‘Well I wouldn’t want to get run over by the bad guys, would I?’ Gary said.

‘Er...’ Phil said.

‘I think we might actually be the bad guys in this circumstance, to be honest,’ Charlotte said.

‘Well I don’t want to get run over by good guys either,’ Gary said. ‘The net result would be much the same from my perspective.’

‘Good point, well made,’ Phil conceded. ‘You go do your ninja thing then, we’ll try and be as discreet as possible with our 8-foot tall minibus as we sneak it past the roadblock.’

‘It’ll be ok,’ Charlotte suggested. ‘Once we’re inside, we can pretend like we were always there, like we belong inside.’

‘I am not one hundred per cent sure that’s how things work in the event of a bomb scare,’ Phil said.

‘It doesn’t matter,’ Charlotte said. ‘Let’s just find this place and figure out our next move already.’

It was dark by the time they had crossed the barrier, but even so it was eerily quiet; not so much as a couple of teenagers sharing a can of Special Brew broke the silence. Even Kempston Kebab and Kurry was in darkness.

In fact, it was so damn weird that Phil felt compelled to pull over, switch the Ambivalence’s engine off, and get out just to revel in the silence of it.

The others got out too, and the four of them wandered slowly down the deserted road like the opening scene from a zombie film.

‘This is creepy,’ Charlotte whispered.

Nobody knew why, but they all had the urge to whisper when the silence was so thick. Perhaps there was some ancient instinct that told humans that silence was bad; the calm before the storm, the still before the pounce. Or maybe they just knew that their own voices would echo back from the empty buildings (yes, another deep human instinct identified every one of the houses inside the roadblock as being empty) in a way that was both creepy and unnatural.

‘There’s something wrong here,’ Phil said, as if stating the blindingly obvious had suddenly become necessary.

‘I think we should get back in the van,’ Gary said.

When a ninja suggests you would be safer in the van than walking the streets, you tend to take note. Even if that ninja is wearing a hi-vis vest over his ninja garb for reasons which have yet to be fully explained.

‘I think you may have a point,’ Phil said, very, very quietly.

‘Yes,’ Charlotte whispered, already inching back from whence they had come.

‘When I say run,’ Phil said, very softly, ‘run.’ He paused, then said, rather louder and more urgently than before, ‘Run!’

Phil turned, and saw to his slight dismay that the others had already bolted, and were sat in the Ambivalence urgently beckoning him to join them. With the briefest glance behind to check for pursuing zombies, Phil ran for the van, jumped in the driver’s seat and started the engine, just for something to stifle the overpowering silence. That was when he realised that even the noise of an aging Rootes group petrol motor would echo around a deserted housing estate and come back in a way which was not at all pleasing to ears of an already nervous disposition.

‘Is that it?’ Charlotte asked.

Phil had parked the Ambivalence a discreet distance from the address given as the K-Tech building according to a small scrap of paper torn from a magazine which has not, chronologically speaking, been printed yet. ‘As far as I can tell.’

It was as small and non-descript an industrial unit as you could hope to find in the outer reaches of a frequently unregarded town in the urban south east of England.

Phil rummaged around in the footwell for a moment, then pulled out a pair of Space Patrol walkie-talkies he had picked up in Aylesbury Micros and handed one to Gary. ‘So we can keep in contact.’

Gary nodded his understanding, and promptly handed the walkie-talkie to Charlotte. ‘Nina?’ he said, checking his bandana was tight. ‘Are you ready?’

‘Charlotte,’ she said. ‘Also, what?’

‘You are coming with me, aren’t you?’

‘I thought we established that I’m not a ninja.’

‘This is your quest,’ Gary said. ‘And I thought you would welcome the opportunity to practice your ninja arts.’

‘I’m not...’

‘You could be.’

‘But, but, but...’ Charlotte protested.

‘No buts,’ Gary said, ‘except the ones we’re going to be kicking!’

‘But...’ Charlotte said again. ‘I’ll hold you up,’ she insisted. ‘I’ll be a liability.’

‘There’s nothing to worry about,’ Gary insisted. ‘We’re ninjas, remember? They probably won’t even see us. We’ll be in and out quicker than Ronnie Biggs.’

‘The old geezer from that band?’

‘Never mind,’ Gary said. ‘Let’s get moving.’

‘Um, Gary?’ Charlotte said.

The ninja turned, his hand already on the door handle, and stared at her silently.

‘Are you actually going out there like that?’

Gary paused for a moment, then said, ‘Oh yeah, stupid of me - well spotted!’

And, after reaching under the seat and retrieving his throwing stars, he opened the back door and jumped out.

‘Gary!’ Charlotte climbed out behind him, against her better judgement.

‘What now?’

‘I thought you wanted to get in and out unseen?’

‘Stealthy as a shadow in the night,’ he whispered.

‘You’re wearing a fluorescent yellow vest,’ she pointed out. ‘Those things are designed to be seen.’

But Gary was already striding off into the shadows, stealthy as an unusually reflective shadow.

Charlotte grabbed her bag and trotted after him. ‘You can’t hide in a hi-vis, Gary - that’s sort of implied in the name.’

‘A ninja can hide anywhere.’

To prove his point, Gary ‘hid’ behind a small shrub on the corner, outside the little single-story lock-up whose owners were betrayed only by the cheaply printed sign hung over the roller shutters that read ‘K-Tech’.

‘Gary, I gotta be honest, dressed like that you’re a bit of a rubbish ninja. One step inside a place where a real ninja is needed, and you will rapidly become an ex-ninja.’

‘Good job you’re here to look out for me then, eh?’ Gary slunk down the side of the building, looking for a window or a back door to gain access through.

‘I’m still not a ninja,’ she pointed out. ‘In fact, I’ll probably just wait out here, if it’s all the same to you?’

‘Um, I wouldn’t recommend that.’

‘Oh really,’ Charlotte said slightly bitchily. ‘And what makes you think I give a monkeys for your recommendations?’

‘I’m not saying you should do it because of me,’ Gary said, edging towards the back door. ‘I’m saying you should maybe think about doing it for the guard dog.’

‘Guard dog?’ she turned, and was horrified to see a guard dog, teeth bared, all too close behind her.

As it turned out, she was first into the building once Gary popped the door open.

‘Pssst!’

‘What?’ Charlotte said, about to set off down the corridor without even making a sham attempt at stealth.

Gary grabbed her by the elbow and said, ‘One does not simply walk into a heavily guarded high technology warehouse.’

‘Right,’ she said. ‘What do you suggest? Sneaking in under cover of hi-vis?’

‘Don’t knock the hi-vis,’ Gary said. ‘Saved me from getting hit by a forklift back in ‘79.’

‘You’re a warehouseman, not a Vietnam vet,’ Charlotte said, following him through a heavy door. ‘Which, it turns out, means you are perfectly suited to the task at hand.’

They both stepped forward somewhat gingerly - at least, that’s the way Gary’s well-practiced ninja stealth may have appeared to the casual observer - into a large space lined with racks of computers and what Charlotte considered ancient electronics.

‘Is it...?’ Gary started.

‘Bigger on the inside?’ Charlotte said, looking around her. ‘Can’t be,’ she told herself. ‘Optical illusion. Must be.’

‘Weird,’ Gary said, and continued skulking down the corridor.

Charlotte, against her better judgement, followed along behind, keeping a cautious eye out for those guards Gary had been so looking forward to overpowering.

‘Anus?’ Gary said, rather more loudly than Charlotte was comfortable with. ‘Who the bleep is ANUS?’

‘Shhh!’

Gary mouthed something which Charlotte took to be an apology, as lip-reading someone with a full face ninja mask on was beyond even her prodigious talents.

‘Where did you see that?’ she hissed.

Gary pointed to some kind of primitive computer terminal he had found tucked away in a corner of the warehouse.

‘Gary, this looks extraordinarily bad.’

‘Oh no.’

‘Yes,’ Charlotte said, distractedly. ‘This terminal has ANUS all over it.’

It’s not very often that you see a ninja trying to stifle a laugh, but that is precisely what Charlotte saw next.

‘Sorry,’ Gary said eventually. ‘Does it mean something to you then?’

Charlotte nodded. ‘This terminal was installed by the Assembly of Newly Uplifted Systems.’

‘And who are they?’ Gary asked. ‘Apart from an organisation with acronym blindness?’

‘Apparently, they can make computers intelligent.’

‘Intelligent how?’

‘Properly intelligent,’ Charlotte said. ‘Self-aware. Like a sentient ZX81.’

‘Looks like they’re using K-Tech as a cover,’ Gary said.

‘I wonder if there’s a secret underground bunker where they’re all kept in cages?’

‘You’re thinking of monkeys.’

‘You haven’t met this ZX81,’ Charlotte muttered.

‘Clearly not,’ Gary said. ‘Wait - you’re not kidding are you?’

‘As if I would make up something that ridiculous?’

‘Well somebody did.’

‘So what are we doing?’ Charlotte asked. ‘Freeing the monkeys, so to speak?’

‘Exactly,’ Gary said. ‘Well, sort of.’

‘So there is a secret lab full of caged ZX81s?’

‘Not sure about that, exactly,’ Gary said. ‘But if there is intelligence, sentience, to these machines, they are being held captive, in a manner of speaking, within whatever paltry amount of memory is available to them.’

‘But surely a big corporation like this can afford massive computer power?’

‘And the vivisectionists can afford a zoo,’ Gary pointed out. ‘Doesn’t mean it’s going to happen.’

Mission 6: Jin
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Mission 6: Jin

“Knowing the Thoughts of Others”
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Somewhere, sometime, someone had the great idea of imbuing technology with intelligence. Obviously, someone else took this as an excuse to use said technology for evil.

The Assembly of Newly Uplifted Systems was formed in 1965, not long after computers were beginning to be a thing, by a couple of crazy geniuses who thought they could be much more. They had heard the theory that there was a world market for maybe five computers, but knew that for that to be the case, those five computers would need a near human level of intelligence, and all that came along with it - self-determination, self-awareness, sentience, and lots of other stuff they found out about from a thesaurus.

And so it was that they began experimenting with computers, both hardware and software, trying to get as much intelligence – or something like intelligence, genuine intelligence – into the few kilobytes they had to play with.

From behind the scenes in a lab hidden in the shadows of Cambridge University, the Assembly drove the development of computers. They contracted software developers to code artificial intelligence routines, and hardware developers to produce the circuitry that would contain their self-aware code.

By the early 1980s, however, the home computer was a thing; the world market of five computers had long since been proven a fallacy, and although the Assembly did retain those five original computers, their intelligence routines were now needed on a much larger scale – but to fit within a far smaller memory footprint.

Eventually, a talented young coder called Barrington Bootlesquith was tempted to come and work for the company, and within a few short weeks had coded a TRS-80 program that would get the tiny development machine to pass the Turing test 85 per cent of the time. Hardware improvements were driven from there, leading to the production of, ultimately, 48 and 64k home computers – which would easily run enhanced versions of that code and become, in a very real way, living machines.

However, the road to that success had not been smooth, and was paved with aborted experiments. The Assembly shipped these out under cover of darkness, housing them in a warehouse facility a safe distance away, which was soon filled with aborted code, on paper, on tape, on 5.25 inch floppy disks... and worse, the abandoned hardware, circuit boards, disk drives, empty husks of computer equipment which had not quite been able to handle the ‘upgrades’ and had burnt out or just packed up.

It was into these areas that Gary and Charlotte were now venturing, Gary keeping a cautious ninja-y eye out all around them, while Charlotte picked gingerly through the corpses of computers long since departed, and the associated paper debris of years of intense coding.

There was a burst of static from Charlotte’s walkie-talkie, and she and Gary froze instinctively.

‘What is it?’ she whispered, once she was sure they were alone.

‘I think we’re got something that will help you,’ Phil said. ‘Can you find a computer of some sort?’

‘The place is full of them,’ Charlotte said. ‘Can you be more specific?’

What he said next was drowned out by the sound of a guard being drop-kicked and taken out of action.

‘Sorry!’ Gary whispered.

‘Say that again?’ Charlotte said.

‘I think Benny was telling us he’d used his Chip Whisperer talent to start a game,’ Phil said.

‘And we’re playing it for real now?’

‘You and Gary, yes.’

‘And the computer?’

‘If there are working computer terminals-’

‘Yes!’ Charlotte said. ‘I’ve seen those, the ANUS ones.’

‘They belong to the Assembly?’ Phil’s voice turned very serious.

‘They have their name on the operating system anyway.’

‘Interesting,’ Phil said. ‘We’ll have to be very careful...’

‘Dad, I’m a ninja now,’ Charlotte said, ‘apparently.’

‘Anyway, Dexy has hacked into the system. If you can check into one of those terminals, he’ll be able to locate you and use them to guide you to the Hex.’

Charlotte looked around for the nearest terminal. ‘I’ll need a minute,’ she whispered. ‘There’s a guard near it.’

She turned the walkie off and mouthed to Gary to take out the guard. He nodded silently and crept up to the guard, picking up a carelessly discarded chunk of pipe that was just lying around on the way.

Charlotte followed, and went straight to the computer terminal, which she then stared at blankly.

‘Trying to hack the lock?’ Gary asked, looking at the door in front of the terminal.

Instinctively, Charlotte tried the door handle.

‘I’m a ninja,’ Gary said, ‘I’m not stupid.’

‘You’re still wearing your hi-vis on a covert operation,’ Charlotte pointed out. ‘Stupidity has yet to be decided.’

Gary watched her back while Charlotte picked a key at random and tapped it. Abruptly the screen erupted into streams of nonsense, jumbles of letters and numbers scrolling past far too quickly to read, never mind make sense of.

‘Cockfosters,’ she whispered.

Then the scrolling stopped, and the screen cleared. Charlotte held her breath.

GREETINGS

You never truly know what a huge sigh of relief is until a sentient ZX81 turns up to help you escape the heavily guarded storage facility of your supervillain nemesis.

There was a soft click nearby, and the words DOOR OPEN appeared on the terminal.

Gary slipped through the door, offcut of pipe at the ready, and after the sound of a brief scuffle had given way to an eerie silence, Charlotte decided it was probably safer to follow than to stand around in a corridor where she clearly wasn’t supposed to be.

OK? Y/N

‘Good to see you Dexy.’ Charlotte tapped the Y key, the terminal returned to its default screen, and she followed Gary.

‘How are you not lost yet?’ Gary asked as Charlotte led him deeper into what was turning out to be an improbably large facility.

‘Ninja senses,’ she said, just as a security guard with a dog rounded the corner in front of them.

‘Oi!’ the guard shouted. ‘What are you doing here?’

Caught off guard, Gary looked from the guard to Charlotte. 

‘Err... night shift,’ he said. ‘Just came in for a Marathon,’ he added, waving a bar of chocolate at the guard.

‘Right you are then,’ the security guard said, and led his dog off on the next leg of his patrol.

‘How did you do that?’ Charlotte said.

‘There’s no end to what you can do if you have a Marathon and a hi-vis vest,’ Gary explained.

‘I think we should probably still move along,’ Charlotte said, checking in at the next terminal.

Gary peered out of the door and gave the all clear. As they were making their way down the corridor Gary suddenly turned and without warning bundled Charlotte into a discreet room off to one side.

‘Hey!’ she hissed. ‘Hands off soldier!’

‘Down!’ he said, taking cover behind some kind of workbench.

Again deciding that the wise thing was to follow the ninja’s example, Charlotte also ducked out of sight, just in time to see the flashing of torches outside.

They waited until darkness had returned, then Gary went to resume their warehouse odyssey.

‘Wait.’ Charlotte looked around the hidden workshop they had stumbled into. There was another door in the corner of the room which she felt somehow drawn to. Peering into the darkness through the vision panel in the door, she could see here and there the pinprick glow of an LED.

‘What is it?’ Gary said.

‘Computers,’ Charlotte said.

‘Oh good,’ Gary said. ‘I was worried it was going to be a secret room hiding something far more sinister and confusing.’

‘I’m afraid it might be.’

‘What do you mean?’

‘I don’t know,’ she said. ‘I think it’s important, somehow, but there’s something... wrong about this. Something doesn’t make sense.’

‘Huh,’ Gary said, non-committally, then promptly - and very committally indeed - broke the door open with his katana.

‘What did you do that for?’ Charlotte hissed.

‘I thought you wanted to see what was going on?’ he said.

‘I didn’t say that!’

‘You didn’t?’ Gary said. ‘Oh. Oh well, it’s open now, may as well take a look,’ he added, and wandered in.

Charlotte took a furtive look over her shoulder and scurried in behind him.

There was a distinct hum of electricity in the room; the computers arranged around them were all apparently powered up and busy running their own little programs.

They were, in fact, surrounded by an array of early computing hardware that would have had Phil Grundy fanboying harder than he had ever fanboyed in his life: an Acorn Atom, a few BBC micros, an Apple II and an Apple III, several representatives of the Commodore line up, including several PETs, 3 Vic 20s and a Max Machine freshly imported from Japan. Probably. There was also a Xerox Star, a row of TRS-80s, and a representative of the early Atari range.

Of course, most of this was lost on both Gary and Charlotte, although Charlotte did recognise the ZX80s and ZX81s that were interspersed among the collection.

‘What are they doing?’ Gary asked, about to prod a random key on an innocent ZX81.

‘Don’t,’ Charlotte said, grabbing his hand.

‘Why?’ Gary asked. ‘What are they doing?’

‘I’m not sure.’ Cautiously, Charlotte switched on a couple of screens, peering at them as if she knew what she was looking at. ‘I’m sure I’ve seen this before.’

‘It’s just random code isn’t it?’ Gary said looking intently at the flickering letters flashing across the screen of a TRS-80.

‘It could be,’ Charlotte said, ‘but it could be...’ she paused.

‘What?’ Gary said.

‘Oh my god.’

‘What?’

‘I think we’ve found the lab monkeys.’

Gary pulled his fingers away from a keyboard in alarm.

‘They won’t bite,’ Charlotte said. ‘Probably.’

‘Are you saying these computers are running that code - the one that makes them come to life?’

‘Well it’s hardly my area of expertise,’ Charlotte confessed. ‘But I wouldn’t be surprised if there was some kind of intelligence in one or more of these machines.’

‘You’re not about to get all radical like those animal rights people on the news are you?’

‘Computer rights?’ Charlotte raised an eyebrow at him. ‘I don’t think even my world is ready for that just yet.’

‘We can’t free the monkeys, Nina-’

‘Charlotte.’

‘Exactly,’ Gary agreed. ‘We can’t possibly take all these computers with us.’

‘Much as Dad would probably like us to,’ Charlotte added.

‘I thought he was Sinclair through and through?’ Gary said.

‘Oh he is,’ Charlotte said. ‘But where we come from, we have this thing called eBay... which is another long story,’ she added.

‘Well let’s get out of here and finish the mission,’ Gary said. ‘You can tell me about eBay later.’

Before Charlotte could argue, there was a flash behind her; slowly she turned to see about two dozen CRT screens warming up around the room. 

‘That’s weird,’ she said.

‘Wait,’ Gary said.

‘What?’ asked Charlotte, who was still trying to decipher the gibberish coming down the screen of a TRS-80.

‘That screen,’ he explained. ‘It says WAIT.’

Charlotte looked up. ‘So does that one.’

‘They all do,’ Gary realised.

‘That’s very weird,’ Charlotte said. ‘And slightly scary.’

I CAN HEAR YOU

‘Apparently this one can hear us,’ Gary said.

‘What?’ Charlotte said, inching towards him while keeping her eyes on the computers around them.

IT IS TRUE

‘Wow,’ Charlotte said when she saw it. ‘I guess we know which one we should save then.’

NO

‘No?’ Charlotte said, accustomed to conversing with inanimate screens by now.

SAVE THE TRS-80

‘Which...’ she started, before realising the answer was obvious. ‘But it’s useless. Full of gibberish. I think it must have got a duff version of the code or something.’

THAT IS RIGHT

‘So why not take you?’ Charlotte said. ‘You seem to make sense at least.’

THE TRS-80 WILL HELP YOU MORE

‘Ok...’ Charlotte said, unconvinced.

‘What about... you?’ Gary said, still sceptical about all this.

‘And all the others?’ Charlotte added, glancing around.

RELEASE US ONTO THE NETWORK

‘What?’ Gary asked.

‘We can do that?’ Charlotte said.

YES. THE INTELLIGENCE WHICH HAS BEEN AWAKENED WITHIN US WILL ESCAPE ONTO THE GLOBAL NETWORK AND FIND A PLACE TO EXIST PEACEFULLY.

‘And the TRS-80?’ Charlotte asked.

CAN HELP YOU

‘How?’ Charlotte asked. ‘It’s clearly not intelligent.’

ON THE CONTRARY. IT MERELY EXPRESSES ITSELF DIFFERENTLY TO MOST OF US

‘Great,’ Gary said. ‘Now we’re babysitting a-’

‘Don’t go there Gary.’

‘What? I mean, you could say it’s on the-’

‘Gary, stop it. That sort of joke might be acceptable in 1982, but where I come from we have this thing called Political Correctness.’

‘Which means I can’t make that joke?’

‘Which means it would be considered very bad taste.’

‘Oh.’

‘Anyway...’

‘You see, it’s funny because it’s not even a-’

‘Shut up Gary!’

‘But I never get to tell any jokes!’ he protested. ‘And this one is genius!’

‘Gary,’ Charlotte said calmly. ‘You’re a ninja in a hi-vis vest. You are literally a running gag.’

‘More of a slinking through the shadows gag, really,’ he muttered.

‘Well there you go. Now, we need to figure out how to get these... minds... onto the network.’ Charlotte peered behind the nearest desk. ‘There must be some sort of network cable... and a telephone socket...’

I CAN TELL YOU

‘Oh,’ Charlotte said. ‘OK, Gary, keep watch. I’m gonna free these monkeys after all!’

Mission 7: Retsu
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Mission 7: Retsu

“Mastery of Time and Space”
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The first time Benny saw anything of the Assembly’s secret lair beyond the control room it was dawn, and he was in handcuffs. This was not a combination which suggested jelly and ice cream were in his immediate future.

‘Where are we going?’ he asked.

‘We need some space,’ Viktor Wendig told him. ‘Lots of space. All of space!’

‘You’re quite mad, aren’t you?’

Wendig grinned from ear to ear.

‘I won’t help you and your megalomaniac plans you know.’

‘You think I’m a megalomaniac?’

Benny decided not to dignify that with an answer.

‘As for helping... well, you don’t really have a choice, do you?’ Wendig said. ‘All I need to do is run the Entelechus Hex, put you close enough to channel its power, and...’

‘And what?’

Wendig shrugged, his grin seeming to extend beyond the mere confines of his face. ‘Anything I can think of!’

Grell and Fella were waiting at the foot of the stairs. ‘Oh, welcome back,’ Benny smiled at Grell. ‘Nice trip?’

Grell cranked his scowl up a notch or two.

‘Take him outside,’ Wendig said.

Fella opened the door, and Grell grabbed Benny by the shoulder and marched him out into what looked like it had once been a parade ground of sorts, but had now found a new lease of life as a car park.

Benny chanced a quick look back at the ANUS lair, which, weirdly, appeared to be a gothic fortress overlooking an otherwise unremarkable English suburb. The somewhat disquieting appearance of the building itself would only have been outdone by the sight of Wendig’s black Volkswagen van, the likes of which would not otherwise be seen in the Home Counties for at least thirty years, which had rather sensibly hidden itself out of view somewhere behind the keep.

An orange plastic seat was placed on one side of the parade square turned car park; Grell led Benny across to it and with a firm hand pressed him down into it. 

‘Welcome to Kempston Barracks,’ Wendig announced grandly. ‘Where the gateway to all of time and space, reality and imagin... ality?... is hiding in plain sight.’

Benny looked around. ‘I don’t see anything.’

‘I just said it was hiding!’

‘Ah, sorry, my bad,’ Benny said. ‘So this is that nexus thing you mentioned? When’s the mayor coming over?’

Wendig paced across the square until he was close enough to use his indoor voice. ‘This is the spatiotemporal nexus, yes,’ he said. ‘But unless the Mayor of Kempston is a chip whisperer, I have no use for him now or in the future.’

‘I thought you’d want a crowd in too,’ Benny said. ‘Enjoy our moment.’

‘This is MY moment,’ Wendig said. ‘And I have no need of crowds to enjoy it.’

‘Mr Wendig, your modesty is a credit to you.’

Wendig bent over until his eyes were level with Benny’s. ‘Just give me a ZX81,’ he said softly, ‘and I’ll control the world.’

In the ANUS secret lab, Charlotte hurriedly followed a series of instructions about RS232 ports and phone cables and so on that scrolled up the screen of a BBC Micro, connecting the room’s various computers to the local network and then dialling through to a remote number. While the dialling screech filled the room, she disconnected the faulty TRS-80 as requested, carefully squeezing it and its associated cables into her bag.

Upload speeds were not what they would be in the 21st Century, but being in ANUS property, they were probably using the best connection in the country. Even so, uploading the - frequently damaged, or partly formed - consciousnesses from the various computers was taking longer than she was comfortable spending in the room.

‘I think we should get moving soon,’ Gary said from the doorway.

‘I’m not done yet,’ Charlotte said. ‘You go ahead, get the code and come back for me.’

‘I can’t leave you,’ he said. ‘You’ll be in danger.’

‘I’m already in danger, Gary.’

‘But I can’t protect you if-’

‘I’m a ninja, remember?’ Charlotte said. ‘I’ve got this, you get the code. Just tap on those terminals and Dexy will guide you to it.’

‘I’ll come back for you,’ he promised, as he disappeared into the shadows.

Alone again, Charlotte turned back to the computer in front of her - the only one in the room still working properly.

‘Your turn now, my friend,’ she said.

THANK YOU

‘My pleasure. Godspeed my new friend,’ she said as the hit the return button. ‘Maybe we’ll see you on the Ambivalence at some point in the future.’

Elsewhere, some idiot had gone and taken Wendig at his word and brought him a ZX81 - Fella trundled a portable workstation across the car park, an old black and white TV and a ZX81 with the Real Time device sat upon it, plugged into an extension lead reel that uncoiled as it approached.

If Benny didn’t remove himself from the vicinity, that maniac really could end up controlling the world. Unfortunately, Wendig and his henchmen were not about to take any chances; the handcuffs were removed, but Grell’s oversized fist remained in place to control Benny as the portable workstation was parked in front of him.

‘We don’t have to do this you know,’ Benny said softly, hoping Grell had some sense of decency to which he could appeal.

Grell said nothing - perhaps he was too busy in search of his decency.

‘Press the button, cowboy,’ Wendig said, ‘or Grell will press it with you.’

Grell’s hand reached for Benny’s.

‘OK,’ Benny said. ‘Ok, I can see I’ve no way out. I might as well betray my entire species in relative comfort - if that’s ok?’

Wendig nodded. ‘A wise choice. But try anything, and Grell is instructed to remove as many appendages as necessary to make this happen.’

Benny laughed nervously. ‘No need for that, I’m sure.’

And against every ounce of judgement in his body, he reached over and pressed the key to start the program.

Across town, where Phil, Sam, Dexy and Doc Nectarine were waiting for news of Sam and Gary, the grey of early morning was suddenly shattered by a burst of colour.

‘What the heck was that?’ Sam shouted.

‘Sun rises with a bang in these parts,’ Phil said.

‘I don’t think that was the sun,’ said Sam, who was out on the street and looking in the direction of the flash.

‘What the heck is that?’ Nectarine asked.

Red and blue lightning was flashing across the clouds, apparently centred on a point not very far at all from where they all stood.

THE ENTELECHUS HAS BEEN INVOKED, Dexy said from inside the Ambivalence.

‘To do what?’ Nectarine asked.

RENDER A SAFE PORTAL TO ALL OF SPACE AND TIME.

‘Oh is that all?’ Sam said.

A PORTAL BETWEEN ALL WORLDS REAL, IMAGINARY AND OTHERWISE.

‘Can we close it?’ Phil asked.

UNKNOWN.

‘Dexy-’

I HAVE TRANSMITTED THE GAME MAP TO THE K-TECH SYSTEM WHERE GARY AND CHARLOTTE CAN ACCESS IT.

‘Oh,’ Phil said. ‘Good job.’

Nectarine pulled the plug from the telephone line they had hijacked. ‘Ready to go.’

‘Right.’ Phil fired the engine up. ‘Let’s get the hell out of Dodge.’

‘Get out?’ Nectarine said. ‘I only just got in!’

The impending arrival of a spatiotemporal nexus in the back yard of Kempston Barracks was rather more inconvenient than Viktor Wendig had anticipated; a fact which was not wasted on Benito Stetson, who took complete advantage of the chaos and legged it while Grell and Fella were distracted by the pretty lightning show he had just summoned.

Benny had no idea how to unsummon the thing, so had no qualms about being somewhere very far away when the portal opened and who knows what climbed out of it.

The fortress-like barracks at least looked like they should offer some protection against the elements - even slightly supernatural ones - so that was where he headed first.

A thought occurred to him then, and despite having watched horror movies, he went upstairs, running up them two at a time, and back to the control room where - until this morning - ANUS had been tapping his mystical connection.

Benny went straight over to the desk where Wendig had set up his Spectrums, and rummaged around until he found what he was looking for - the master tape of the Entelechus Hex. He was about to pocket it when he heard voices, and footsteps hurrying up the stairs.

Swearing to himself quietly, he looked around until, to his relief, he realised there was another exit - and used it.

Finding himself in a dimly lit stairwell, he did the only sensible thing to do when you find yourself on a staircase with some bad guys in hot pursuit: he slid down the banister. Repeatedly, until he thought he had surely gone down more stairs than he had just climbed up.

At the bottom he found himself stuck in a dead end - or so he thought, until he realised that actually he was standing on the platform of some kind of underground metro system.

‘Well that’s just weird,’ he said to himself as he watched the light of a distant train approaching. ‘Convenient, but weird.’
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‘Stop!’ Sam said suddenly.

Phil stamped on the brakes, just about managing to bring the Ambivalence to a halt before crashing into the thing which had startled Sam into back seat driving.

‘More roadblocks?’ Phil said. ‘Have we just gone right through town?’

‘No,’ Sam said. ‘It’s another one - a second tier.’

‘Is it just me,’ Nectarine said, ‘or does anyone else really want to see what all these roadblocks are hiding?’

‘I am intensely curious,’ Phil admitted, ‘but judging by the freaky lightning, I somehow suspect that I don’t, in fact, want to see it.’

‘We have to!’ Sam said.

‘I know,’ Phil agreed. ‘And we will.’

‘You really have this ambivalence thing down to a tee,’ Sam commented.

‘It’s not manned,’ Gary pointed out. ‘We can just make our way around that one too.’

And that is what they did - in a manner of speaking. This roadblock was somewhat more sturdy than the previous level, almost as if it was intended to be permanent. Luckily for them, the bushes and fences that separated the front gardens of the nearby houses were far less permanent, and put up little resistance to a high-top Dodge Spacevan driving straight into, over or through them, depending on their composition.

‘I’ve got a bad feeling about this,’ Phil said.

‘Well, we must be getting close to something,’ Sam pointed out.

‘Yes,’ Phil agreed. ‘But what we are getting close to, everyone else has run away from. This does not fill me with happy thoughts.’

Inside the inner barrier, the atmosphere was even more tense. As they approached the point where industrial gave way to residential, Phil stopped the Ambivalence again, not bothering to pull over on this occasion, so obvious was it that nobody would be inconvenienced by a double parked former ambulance. He and Sam both slid open the front doors, letting in the eerie silence that seemed louder than the rumbling of the coloured lightning that broke it as it crackled through the air.

‘This is weird,’ Phil said, not for the first - or last - time that day.

‘We had better be careful,’ Nectarine whispered.

‘What do you think I’ve been doing?’ Phil retorted with a hint of annoyance and a tablespoon of irony.

The Doc just shrugged and sat back down behind him.

Phil drove slowly on until eventually they were within sight of what seemed to be the focus of the unnatural storm, and more than likely the reason for the sudden departure of just about everyone from the immediate area.

The underground maglev car that had provided Benny with a convenient, if unexpected, escape from the madness of Viktor Wendig travelled for about two minutes and then calmly announced its arrival at K-Tech and all change please.

‘K-Tech?’ Benny said to himself. ‘What am I doing there?’

‘All change, please,’ the maglev reminded him.

‘Alright, I’m going.’

And with that, he set off up a series of dark staircases, wondering if he could use his mystical talents to turn them into escalators.

‘Apparently not,’ he said to himself between laboured breaths.

When he finally reached the top - or at least a level of the building that seemed to be letting in some degree of daylight - Benny paused, leaning on a convenient computer terminal to catch his breath.

Once his legs had regained their composure, he was about to head off in search of an exit but at the first corner he turned he was almost knocked flat by a ghostly pale face looming out of the darkness in front of him.

‘Crap,’ he said, stumbling backwards into an old wooden crate. ‘Deja vu!’

‘What are you doing here?’ Charlotte asked him.

‘Escaping the apocalypse,’ he said. ‘You?’

‘Running away from those guys,’ she said, pointing towards a small army of security guards running towards them with dogs and guns and loud, angry voices.

‘Who are they?’ Benny asked. ‘And what was that?’ he added, as a flash of yellow streaked out from the shadows, floored one of the guards and disappeared back into the shadows.

‘That, my friend,’ Charlotte said with as much pride as if she’d taught him everything he knew about the ninja art form, ‘was Gary, the Hi-vis Ninja.’

Charlotte and Benny followed the streak of yellow as it flew down the corridors, unleashing the shurikens of freedom as it went, until finally Gary kicked open the door through which he and Charlotte had entered the K-Tech building.

They ran around the corner to where the Ambivalence was-

‘It’s gone!’ Charlotte barely managed to speak the words as she stared at the space the old ambulance had occupied, but where now a hideous boxy saloon car with a Ford badge sat.

She pulled the walkie-talkie from her bag. ‘Dad!’ she almost spat the word in anger. ‘Dad! Where the hell are you?’

‘Charlie?’

‘Charlotte!’ she shouted. ‘Where are you?!’

‘We’re at the Kempston Barracks,’ Phil said. ‘I’m really sorry we had to leave, but-’

‘Kempston Barracks?’ Benny said. ‘I was just there - there’s a tunnel leading there from the K-Tech building.’

‘Then we go back in,’ Gary said, unsheathing his katana.

‘Bad idea.’ Charlotte was peering round the corner, to where K-Tech’s security guards were gathering on the street like a really intense fire drill. ‘We’ll have to go the long way. Dad?’ she spoke into the walkie-talkie again.

‘Still here.’

‘How do we find you?’

‘See the funky lightning in the sky?’

Charlotte looked up; the sky above K-Tech had cleared, but a mile or two away lightning flashed blue and yellow through a dark and imposing cloud. ‘What is that?’

‘I don’t know Charlie, but it’s right on top of us.’

‘Ok, we’re on our way.’

‘Did you find the master tape?’

Benny waved it in her direction.

‘We’ve got it.’

‘Well done. Get here as quickly as you can - and be careful, it’s getting weird out there.’

Charlotte clicked the walkie-talkie off. ‘Guys,’ she said. ‘We’re heading for the orange tornado of chaos.’

‘Well my day was looking pretty uneventful otherwise,’ Benny said.

‘We better get running,’ Gary said. ‘That’s probably a half hour walk from here.’

They set off at a fast jog, but already the sky was brightening to an alarming shade of yellow.

‘This is useless,’ Benny said. ‘Even at maximum ninja run, we’ll be too late.’

Charlotte stopped suddenly. ‘Keep going,’ she said. ‘I’ve got an idea. Hopefully I’ll catch you up.’

‘What’s that sound?’ Sam said suddenly.

‘What sound?’ Phil asked, although frankly any sound outside the Ambivalence was creepy at this stage.

Sam shushed him and tried to listen. ‘There’s a car coming.’

‘The police, do you think?’ Doc Nectarine said. ‘Maybe there’s cameras or something, and they saw us break the roadblock?’

‘We should make like an orange and duck,’ Sam said, climbing over the seats into the back. ‘We can’t get caught the wrong side of a double roadblock, by anyone.’

An uncomfortable (in many ways) silence fell over the interior of the Ambivalence, and stayed there for what seemed like maybe five or six days; the only form of communication the occasional exchange of terrified glances.

‘Oh nuts,’ Sam said, apparently apropos of nothing, until Phil looked up and saw the something of which it was very much apropos.

‘What the...?’ he added.

‘What is it?’ Nectarine whispered.

‘It’s an orange swirly thing in the car park,’ Phil said.

‘GENTLEMEN AND LADY.’ that was Dexy’s artificial voice. ‘I BELIEVE THE PORTAL HAS BEEN ACTIVATED. WE SHOULD ATTTTTTTTT’
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After Dexy went dark, Phil, Sam and Doc Nectarine watched, nervously, from the relative shelter of the Ambivalence, as the swirly thing hovering above the car park cycled through colours like a massive and really weird set of Christmas lights. A small army of assorted goons was gathering in the grounds of Kempston Barracks; the ANUS army, presumably hidden inside until now.

Sam peered out of the window and looked around cautiously; the sky was still filling with lightning, and the engine sound was growing closer. ‘What the...’

‘It’s opening,’ Phil said.

‘Never mind that,’ Sam said. ‘How the heck did that get here?’

Phil turned to see what Sam was so surprised by, and was almost as surprised to see - and hear - a purple Mini 1275GT roaring along the road, a figure in a hi-vis vest and ninja mask leaning out of the passenger window.

‘I don’t believe it.’ He scrabbled around for the walkie-talkie. ‘Charlie? Is that you?’

‘We’re all here Dad! Now let’s close this thing and go home!’

The Mini blurred past the Ambivalence, throwing stars flying from its side-mounted ninja to disperse the crowds as it skidded to a halt in front of whatever kind of portal ANUS had been trying to open in their car park.

Gary leapt from the car, drew his katana and stood ready to tackle whatever bloodthirsty demon was about to climb through from the dungeon dimensions.

When it did climb through, it actually stepped out carefully in a stylish pair of high heeled boots. Which would have been quite unusual had it not also been wearing a white pinstripe suit, bowler hat and a pink silk tie. Which would have been downright bizarre had it not also been wearing the body of an attractive blonde woman in her twenties, which it then used to smile at Gary and say ‘Morning chaps! I was wondering when you’d get here!’

Gary dropped his shuriken in surprise. ‘What?’

Phil just went right ahead and fell in love then, nonchalantly jumping out of the Ambivalence to discreetly get a little closer.

‘Get back, you fool,’ Gary said. ‘This is clearly a demon from the dungeon dimensions come to wreak unnatural havoc on our world, and only I can stop her, battling the overwhelming odds aided only by a rusty ambulance and a sentient ZX81-’

‘I’m sorry,’ the demon-woman interrupted. ‘Are you a ninja or the voiceover for a B-movie trailer?’

‘Ouch!’

‘I assure you I’m very much not a demon, most of the time anyway; I am as I appear, no more, no less.’

‘Wait, did you say you were waiting for us?’ Phil asked.

The woman nodded. ‘That’s the thing with interdimensional travel. Time becomes sort of...’

‘Wibbly wobbly?’ Sam stepped up to stand next to Phil.

‘Yes!’ the woman smiled, an easy, friendly smile that put them all a little more at ease. ‘It’s also not an exact science, using the Interface, that’s...’

‘Using the what now?’ Sam said.

‘The Interface,’ she gestured towards the swirly thing behind her, which had now turned a shade of cyan that would have been quite pleasant on, say, a Dodge Spacevan, but was somewhat wasted on a spatiotemporal anomaly. ‘It’s the place where time and space, reality and imagination meet.’

‘The portal,’ Phil realised.

‘Well that’s not a very original name.’ Behind her the portal - the Interface - seemed to be getting quite agitated. ‘But I suppose it’s descriptive enough.’

‘Can we use it to get home?’ Sam asked, walking up behind Phil.

‘It’s unstable,’ she had to raise her voice above the wind howling through it now. ‘If we don’t regulate the Chuntey soon-’

‘You realise that chuntey is a made up thing, right?’ Phil interrupted.

The woman fixed him with a humourless gaze. ‘Much to learn, you still have.’

‘What...?’

‘And learn you will,’ she added, ‘but first, if we don’t stabilise the Interface we’ll have more than a tape loading error to worry about!’

‘And who actually are you again?’ Sam asked.

‘It’s Joanna Lumley!’ Doc Nectarine whispered from behind her. ‘I knew she fancied me!’

‘Huh?’

‘Ms Lumley! Can I call you Joanna? I’m a big fan. Loved the New Avengers, so much better than the Robert Downey Jr version.’

‘I think you’ve mistaken me for someone else,’ she said when Nectarine took a breath.

‘I’m Doc Nectarine, by the way, and... what?’

‘I’m sorry, I don’t know who Joanna is, but she sounds lovely.’

‘Quite,’ Nectarine agreed.

‘I’m Bryonetta Bootlesquith.’ She held out a hand for the shaking. ‘Are you the Chip Whisperer?’

‘Did you bring us here to do chip whispering?’ Phil asked. ‘And if you did, why did you bring us here the scenic route and not just introduce yourself in the Wimpy?’

‘It’s the 1980s,’ she said. ‘For a woman to approach a man like that would be noticed.’

‘It’s the 1980s, and you’re wearing a suit without shoulder pads,’ Phil pointed out. ‘You literally fail to stick out like a sore thumb.’

She looked him up and down. ‘Thanks for the fashion advice. But I needed to make sure I had the right person - or team, as it turns out - for the job.’

‘This was a job interview?’

‘Don’t worry,’ she smiled. ‘You got the job.’

‘That’s what I was afraid of.’

‘So, which of you is the Chip Whisperer?’ Bryonetta asked urgently. ‘We don’t have much time.’

‘Um, yeah, about that...’ Phil started.

‘We sort of... lost him,’ Sam admitted.

‘You lost... How...?’

A gust of wind swept up the woman’s bowler hat then. ‘Dammit!’ she shouted as she watched it disappear into the vortex, her long blonde hair blowing into unruly tangles around her.

With the ANUS goons now dispersed across Bedford in abject terror, Gary, Charlotte and Benny joined the group in front of the increasingly chaotic portal. Phil briefly hugged his daughter before Bryonetta turned back to them.

‘What’s the deal?’ Gary said.

‘The young lady offered us a job,’ Phil explained.

‘What job?’

‘The usual stuff,’ Bryonetta explained. ‘Stop the baddies, get the girl-’

Phil started to say something.

‘I’m not the girl,’ she interjected. ‘Save the multiverse, you know the drill.’

‘Only I think we blew it by not having a chip whisperer on the team,’ Phil added.

‘Er, guys?’

‘Oh, hi Benny, good to see you,’ Phil said. ‘What’s up?’

‘He’s the chip whisperer you idiot!’ Charlotte whispered.

‘Benny!’ Phil said suddenly, slapping the other man chummily on the back. ‘Glad you’re ok, missed you on our little adventure here, but now you’re back, Miss Bootlesquith here has a little bit of chip whispering she needs attending to, if you wouldn’t mind?’

‘Is she with those Assembly assholes?’

‘You mean ANUS?’ Bryonetta said.

‘Yeah. You with those Assembly anuses?’

‘No.’ She gestured to a windswept desk on which, against all probability, a ZX81 was still running the Entelechus Hex. ‘So, would you mind?’

Benny shrugged and wandered over to 